RECOGNIZED BY:



HIGHER EDUCATION COMMISSION OF PAKISTAN



Asian Science Citation Index

Aims and Scope

Pakistan Biomedical Journal is an open access, peer-reviewed International journal that publishes in all fields of health, allied health and biomedical sciences for an internationally diverse authorship. Clinical studies, clinical trials, population studies, public health, discovery medicine, study of microbes, molecular and cellular biology, basic mechanisms of biology, genetics, cancer biology, molecular medicine, pharmacology, virology, chemical biology, immunobiology, chemical biology, physiological and pathological studies are within the scope of journal.

A highly-cited, multi disciplinary, international editorial board assures timely publication of manuscripts and reviews on latest advancements in biomedical sciences.

Types of Articles

- Research papers
- Short communications
- Review or mini-reviews
- Commentaries
- Perspectives, opinion
- Meta-analysis
- Case reports
- Case studies
- Case-control studies

Reviews on recent progress in biomedical sciences are commissioned by the editors. The purpose of the Pakistan Biomedical Journal is to publish scientific and technical research papers to bring attention of international researchers, scientists, academicians, health care professionals towards the recent advancements in biomedical sciences. The articles are collected in the form of reviews, original and clinical studies. It may serve as a global platform for scientists in relevant fields to connect and share ideas mutually. This journal is open to all the research professionals whose work fall within our scope. Submissions are welcome and may be submitted here.

submissions@pakistanbmj.com

🅑 @JournalPakistan 🞯 @Pakistanbmj

Title

The title of the paper should provide a concise statement of the contents of the paper. A good title is very important and will attract readers and facilitate retrieval by online searches, thereby helping to maximize citations. The title should include topical keywords and allude to the interesting conclusions of the paper. A title that emphasizes the main conclusions, or poses a question, has more impact than one that just describes the nature of the study.

Running Head

Running head should be added in the header along with the page numbers.

Type of Article

Research Article/ Case Report/ Review Article/ Opinion/ Short Communication/ Mini Review/ Letter to Editor

Running Title: A short version of the paper title. Keywords: The major keywords used in the article have to be mentioned. Authors List here all author names Author¹, Author² and Author³ ¹Author department, University, Country ²Author department, University, Country ³Author department, University, Country

*Corresponding Author

Author name, Affiliation, Department Name, University Name, Address, City, State, Country, E-mail:

Abstract

Abstract should include a brief content of the article. It should be structured not more than 250 words. It should include following sub headings: Objective, Methods, Results, Conclusions.

Abbreviations

If there are any abbreviations in the article they have to be mentioned.

INTRODUCTION

Provide a context or background for the study (i.e., the nature of the problem and its significance). State the specific purpose or research objective of, or hypothesis tested by, the study or observation; the research objective is often more sharply focused when stated as a question. Both the main and secondary objectives should be made clear, and any pre-specified subgroup analyses should be described. Give only strictly pertinent references and do not include data or conclusions from the work being reported.

METHODS

The Methods section should include only information that was available at the time the or plan of the protocol. All information gathered during the conduct of study should be included in the result section. Study Design, Inclusion / Exclusion Criteria, Data collection procedure, Statistical analysis.

RESULTS

Present your results in logical sequence in the text, tables, and illustrations, giving the main or most important findings first.

Do not repeat in the text all the data in the tables or illustrations; emphasize or summarize only important observations. When data are summarized in the results section, give numeric results not only as derivatives (for example, percentages) but also as the absolute numbers from which the derivatives were calculated, and specify the statistical methods used to analyze them. Table font should be 10 and caption should be below table and figure.

Data should not be duplicated in both figures and tables. The maximum limit of tables and figures should not exceed more than 4. Mention the findings of the study in paragraph, while mentioning figure and table number in text in sequential order.

TABLE

Table should not be copy pasted or in picture form

DISCUSSION

Discuss your findings by comparing your results with other literature

REFERENCES

References should not be less than 20. In text references should be in number style. For Example [1] Follow the Pubmed Referencing style Provide the DOI link

Example: Cook NR, Rosner BA, Hankinson SE, Colditz GA. Mammographic screening and risk factors for breast cancer. American Journal of Epidemiology. 2009 Dec; 170(11): 1422-32. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwp304.

If there are more than six authors, write et al. after the first six names.

CONCLUSION(S)

Conclusion should elucidate how the results communicate to the theory presented as the basis of the study and provide a concise explanation of the allegation of the findings.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Provide the list of individuals who contributed in the work and grant details where applicable

Plagiarism policy

Similarity index should be less than 19 and less than 5 from individual sources.

Authorship Letter

Signed authorship letter by all authors including there current department, University, City, Country, Email.

Declaration Form

Signed declaration form submit by corresponding author.

The submission of article should include: manuscript according to journal guidelines, authorship letter, declaration form. It should be submitted to the following email id: submissions@pakistanbmj.com

EDITORIAL TEAM

Editors In-Chief	 Prof. Dr. Riffat Mehboob, Ph.D National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute, National Institute of Health, Bethesda, United States Lahore Medical Research Center^{LLP}, Lahore, Pakistan riffat.pathol@gmail.com Prof. Dr. Anna Maria Lavezzi, Ph.D. Lino Rossi Research Center, Department of Biomedical, Surgical and Dental Sciences, University of Milan, Milan, Italy 		
Editors	Ronald Kühne, Ph.D Group Leader Leibniz-Forschungsinstitut für Molekulare Pharmakologie (FMP), Robert-Rössle-Straße 10, 13125, Berlin, Germany	C	
Associate Editor	Dr. Ahmed Alwazzan, Ph.D* Division of Gynecology Oncology, Faculty of Medicine King Abdul Aziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia		
Managing Editor	Khurram Mehboob Managing Editor Lahore Medical Research Center LP, Lahore, PakistanTest State Center LP, Lahore, PakistanZeeshan Mehboob Production Editor Lahore Medical Research Center LP, Lahore, Pakistan		
Biostatistician	Humaira Waseem Fatima Jinnah Medical University, Lahore, Pakistan		

VOLUME 08 I S S U E 01



EDITORIAL **BOARD**

Prof. Dr. Peter Oehme, MD, Ph.D (Honorary Member) Professor Founder & Ex-Director East German Research Institute of Drug Research, Acadamy of Sciences, Berlin, Germany

Dr. Shah Jahan, Ph.D **Associate Professor** University of Health Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan

Rafael Coveñas Rodríguez Associate Professor University of Salamanca, Spain

Prof. Dr. Tahir Jameel MBBS, MCPS, Mphil, FCPS Professor King Abdulzaiz University Jeddah, Saudia Arabia

Dr. Diki, M.ED, Ph.D Lecturer University Terbuka, Indonesia

Dr. Muhammad Irfan Bashir, Ph.D Lecturer Faculty of Pharmacy, Universiti Sultan Zainal Abidin, Besut Campus, Terengganu, Malaysia

Dr. Ahmad Azam Malik, Ph.D Associate Professor King Abdul Aziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia

Dr. Haiba Kaul, Ph.D **Associate Professor** University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan

Prof. Dr. Beatrice Paradiso MD, Double Ph.D Professor Dolo Hospital, Venice, Italy

Prof. Dr. Graciela L. Mazzone, PhD Associate Professor CONICET - Instituto de Investigaciones en Medicina Traslacional (IIMT), Faculty of Biomedical Sciences -Universidad Austral, Argentina

Jehan Zeb, Ph.D Post Doc, Research Fellow Hong Kong Science & Technology Park Hong Kong SAR China affiliated with The University of Hong Kong

Prof. Dr. Nihat Dilsiz, Ph.D Professor University of Health Sciences, **Experimental Medicine Practice** and Research Center, Istanbul, Turkev

CrossLinks

Published by:

International Publishers www.clip.com.pk **Xisni**0000000503896516 **National Member**

Dr. Munir Bhinder, Ph. D Associate Professor University of Health Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan

Advisory Board

International Members

ШΟ Συ

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Editorial

Revolutionizing Drug Development: Harnessing the Potential of Organ-on-Chip Technology for Disease Modeling and Drug Discovery Jehan Zeb

Review Article

Emerging Trends in Bioprinting for Cartilage Regeneration: Materials, Techniques and Challenges Adam Rafiq Jeraj, Zulekha Zameer

Original Article

Assessment of Knowledge, Attitude and Practice among Nurses Regarding Safe Administration of Chemotherapy at Tertiary Care Hospitals of Peshawar

Ashfaq Ahmad, Abdullah, Muhammad Ziad, Sajid Hameed, Imran Waheed Ahma

Diagnostic Role of X-ray Imaging in Renal and Ureteric Calculi Keeping Computed Tomography as Gold Standard Kalim Ullah, Tauseef Qamar, Siraj Khan, Bilal Ahmad

Language Difficulties and Challenges Faced by Students in Understanding the English Curriculum at PNS LUMHS

lqra, Husan Bano Channar, Shehneela Khowaja, Abdul Hameed Bhacho, Rubina Dean, Mansoor Ul Haq

The Effect of Caffeinated Coffee on Tears Secretion among Young Adults

Ayesha Sajid, Abdullah Bilal, Sameer Saeed, Muhammad Hamza, Isham

Factors Delaying Antenatal Management Leading to Maternal Morbidity: Empirical Evidence from Tertiary Care Hospital KPK Sabah Safdar, Zoopash Inayat, Sheema Safdar

Systematic Review

The Role of Propolis in Muscle Repair: A Systematic Review Putri Ragil Ayu, Sasanthy Kusumaningtyas, Dewi Sukmawati

38







PAKISTAN BIOMEDICAL JOURNAL

https://www.pakistanbmj.com/journal/index.php/pbmj/index ISSN(E): 2709-2798, (P): 2709-278X **Volume 8, Issue 01 (January 2025)**



Revolutionizing Drug Development: Harnessing the Potential of Organ-on-Chip Technology for Disease Modeling and Drug Discovery

Jehan Zeb¹

¹Hong Kong Science & Technology Park Hong Kong SAR China affiliated with The University of Hong Kong **Jehan.zeb@c2i.hk**

ARTICLE INFO

How to Cite:

Zeb, J. (2025). Revolutionizing Drug Development: Harnessing the Potential of Organ-on-Chip Technology for Disease Modeling and Drug Discovery. Pakistan BioMedical Journal, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i1.1216

One of the groundbreaking advancements in the field of biomedical research is the development of organoids or organ on chip technology. Promising potential of this technology has reshaped the future of disease modelling and drug discovery. Organoids are microfluidic devices which can mimic the physiological functions of natural organs of human body. Animal models are being used in laboratories to evaluate the drug effectiveness but due to the recent ethical concerns, regarding the use of animals, are affecting drug development and treatment for various diseases. But organ on chip is an emerging tool which is filling the gap between animal models and outcomes of drug treatment by eliminating the ethical concerns.

Demand for precision medicine is growing due to rapid arousal of various deadly disease but traditional methods of developing drugs fall short as they can't exactly replicate the human physiology. So instead of using animal models or cell cultures to design drug, to detect the its efficacy and toxicity, organ on chip technology is perceived to be a best option. It saves the time and resources that were being wasted, due the use of animal models, during the preclinical and clinical trials of the drug. On the other hand, organoids are more reliable in satisfying the demand of precision medicine. These artificial organs provide a bioengineered platforms mimicking the specific functions of living organs such as gut peristalsis and lung breathing in a very controlled manner. Moreover, different organs communication after drug treatment is also being studied by developing multi-organ systems so that the utility of these micro-engineered organs can be enhanced. These organs generate more accurate data about the drug effectiveness and toxicity. Moreover, it generates it in real time thus reducing the reliance on the animal models on which testing is usually time taking and can give false results. Furthermore, molecular basis of numerous complex diseases like cancer, diabetes and neurogenerative diseases can be predicted with this technology and it is very helpful in producing precision medicine. Controlled drug delivery is one of the best applications of these organoids eliminating the chance of false hits. Therefore, this technology has demonstrated a paradigm shift in biomedical research providing a better alternative in case of efficiency and reliability.

Now the integration biosensors, artificial intelligence in organ on chip technology has enhanced its predictivity power and also allow the real time imaging and monitoring of cellular responses to the particular drug. Though, there some obstacles regarding the adoption of this technology but efforts are being made continuously to accelerate its usage in mainstream research. Thus, paving the way for a new era of personalized medicine.

lip

PAKISTAN BIOMEDICAL JOURNAL

https://www.pakistanbmj.com/journal/index.php/pbmj/index ISSN(P): 2709-2798,(E): 2709-278X Volume 8, Issue 01 (January 2025)



Review Article

Emerging Trends in Bioprinting for Cartilage Regeneration: Materials, Techniques and Challenges

Adam Rafiq Jeraj^{1*} and Zulekha Zameer²

¹Salim Habib University, Karachi, Pakistan ²Kauser Abdulla Malik School of Life Sciences, Forman Christian College (Chartered University), Lahore, Pakistan

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Keywords:

Cartilage Regeneration, Bioprinting, Biomaterial, Emerging Technologies

How to Cite:

Jeraj, A. R., & Zameer, Z. (2025). Emerging Trends in Bioprinting for Cartilage Regeneration: Materials, Techniques and Challenges: Bioprinting for Cartilage Regeneration. Pakistan BioMedical Journal, 8(1), 02-10. https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i1.1186

*Corresponding Author:

Adam Rafiq Jeraj Salim Habib University, Karachi, Pakistan adamrafiq218@gmail.com

Received date: 23rd November, 2024 Revised date: 14th January, 2025 Acceptance date: 19th January, 2025 Published date: 31st January, 2025

Cartilage repair is a major clinical problem because of the poor intrinsic healing capacity of cartilage coupled with the limitations of conventional therapies and synthetic substitutes. These challenges have been pursued by bioprinting, which is a technique that can generate scaffolds that mimic native cartilage. This review aims to discuss current and future development of bioprinting for cartilage tissue regeneration with a focus on the most common biomaterials such as alginate, gelatin, and collagen, along with the emerging materials such as smart hydrogels, nanomaterials, and bioactive molecules. The review also outlines other emerging bioprinting technologies like high resolution, 4D, hybrid, and microfluidic assisted bioprinting that are believed to improve the mechanical properties, biological integration and vascularization of the constructs produced through bioprinting. Some of the major problems which are still unresolved are those of scale up, biocompatibility and immune response that hinders the clinical application of bioprinted cartilage. The review further concludes that owing to some regulatory issues along with a lack of an ideal practice the challenges in bioprinting for cartilage regeneration still persists. Some of the future prospects that have been highlighted include the use of patient derived cells, artificial intelligence for process optimization and the development of smart and adaptive biomaterials. Mitigating these challenged and integrated these advanced technologies will enable the clinical translation of bioprinted cartilage to develop personalized, functional, and durable tissue constructs.

INTRODUCTION

Cartilage damage, whether due to osteoarthritis, trauma, or other degenerative conditions, represents a significant clinical challenge affecting millions of people worldwide. Due to the low capacity for tissue regeneration, cartilage damage can result in progressive joint degeneration, pain, and functional impairment. Current cartilage repair approaches such as autografts, allografts and synthetic implants have been proven to have a number of shortcomings including donor site morbidity, immune response and poor integration with host tissue Galarraga et al., in 2019 [1]. Bioprinting has been identified as a rapidly developing field in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine and has special potential for cartilage tissue engineering. Figure 1 showed a general outline of bioprinting technique for cartilage regeneration. In this context, currently used technique of 3D printing enables

the sequential layering of cells, biomaterials and growth factors in a controlled manner, which recreates the architecture and composition of native cartilage tissue. The fact that bioprinting allows for higher resolution and repeatability when generating constructs tailored to individual patients' needs makes it a valuable approach to improving upon the current methods of cartilage repair Perera et al., in 2021[2]. Although much progress has been made in the bioprinting of cartilage tissue engineering, there are several issues that need to be addressed. Recent studies have focused on different categories of bioprinting such as extrusion bioprinting, inkjet bi rinting and laser bioprinting, and also bioinks that have naturally occurring or synthetic polymers, hydrogels and cell containing matrices. However, there are certain disadvantages such as poor mechanical properties and weak tissue integration,

which limit the application of the designed scaffold into clinical applications Liu et al., in 2023 [3]. Furthermore, there is a lack of extensive clinical studies that would prove the efficiency of cartilage constructs developed through means of bioprinting Perera et al., in 2021 [2]. Thus, the field calls for enhanced materials and techniques that would not only afford the purpose and longevity, but also blend with the native tissue. However, scalability, standardization and regulations continue to be other challenges that need to be overcome in order to transfer bioprinted cartilage constructs from the lab to clinical application Wei et al., in 2021 [4]. This paper will present a comprehensive literature review on bioprinting of cartilage tissue with focus on the current trends, new materials and technologies. The review is novel in that it considers the field from a materials science and bioengineering perspective, as well as its clinical relevance. Potential strategies will be identified in biomaterial design, cell sourcing, and fabrication techniques that seem to have the possibility of solving present challenges. Furthermore, new regulatory trends and standardization processes will be addressed that are necessary to bring bio-printed cartilage constructs closer to clinical manifestations. The study concludes that the findings of this critical analysis will encourage additional research and development in the field of cartilage bioprinting, which will have a positive impact on the lives of patients with cartilage-related diseases.



Figure 1: A General Overview of the Bioprinting Process for Cartilage Tissue Engineering

Traditional Biomaterials in Cartilage Bioprinting

Traditional biomaterials have played a crucial role in cartilage bioprinting for an extended period. They are commonly used in the fabrication of scaffolds that replicate the bio-morpohological and mechanical characteristics of natural cartilage Łabowska *et al.*, in 2021 [5]. Some of the conventional biomaterials utilized in this are hydrogels which comprise alginate, collagen and gelatin. All these materials have properties and certain drawbacks Łabowska *et al.*, in 2021; Ren *et al.*, in 2022; Serafin *et al.*, in 2023 [5-7].

Alginate

Alginate is a well-regarded polymer derived from brown seaweed that is compatible with living tissue and fully biodegradable. Consequently, it has several disadvantages in particular its weak mechanical strength, which diminishes its applicability in load-bearing situations such as cartilage. There are no specific binding sites for cells on alginate, which complicates the creation of 3D cell culture Łabowska *et al.*, in 2021 [5]. These limitations can be however overcome by incorporating alginate with other materials to enhance its mechanical properties and ability to adhere to cells Wierzbicka *et al.*, 2024[8].

Gelatin

Gelatin is produced from collagen and is much preferred for its outstanding biocompatibility and ability to aid cell attachment. Even though gelatins' mechanical properties are good, their mechanical strength is usually adequate for structural applications without the need for reinforcement from other materials Ren *et al.*, 2022 [6]. However, one of the additional limitations is a quick degradation rate. This requires the modification of its structure, or the combination with other polymers to achieve the intended properties Andreazza *et al.*, in 2023; Serafin *et al.*, in 2023 [7,9].

Collagen

Cartilage is a major structural protein found in collagen. It presents certain difficulties; as collagen hydrogels generally do not have the mechanical strength needed for effective use in cartilage engineering. This constraint requires that additional materials be integrated to improve stiffness and durability Jiao *et al.*, in 2023 [10]. Also, the cost of producing collagen is typically high relative to other biomaterials, which may restrict its broad utilization in assorted bioprinting processes Serafin *et al.*, in 2023[7].

Emerging Biomaterials with Enhanced Functionalities

Although traditional biomaterials such as alginate, gelatin, and collagen are essential for bioprinting cartilage, their deficiencies make it necessary to create composite hydrogels. The intent behind these composites is to exploit the strengths of each material while reducing their weaknesses, thereby accelerating the field of tissue engineering.

Composite Hydrogels

Scientists have recently developed a novel class of composite hydrogels made of alginate, gelatin, and collagen. For example, the improvement of mechanical properties in collagen-alginate composites also provides cell-binding sites from collagen, which contributes to better cell viability and proliferation in 3D cultures Łabowska *et al.*, in 2021 [5]. Furthermore, the aldehyde derivative of alginate gel and gelatin hydrogel facilitate improved cell adhesion and better control of mechanical characteristics, which are beneficial for tissue engineering applications Łabowska *et al.*, in 2021; Serafin *et al.*, in 2023 [5,7].

Novel Hybrid Biomaterials

New bio-hybrids including PEG-collagen hydrogels for bioprinting cartilage tissues and tissue engineering are being developed since they possess improved mechanical characteristics and biological activity. The hybrids enhance the properties of the combination material that is mechanical, thermal, electrical, optical, and biological in nature. Among the reported examples are PEG-collagen hydrogels for both corneal and cardiac tissue engineering, double network hydrogels that demonstrate enhanced mechanical properties, and collagen-chitosan composites for corneal tissue engineering. The use of collagenmimetic peptide-PEG hybrids is to mimic collagen bioactivity in synthetic scaffolds. These hybrid materials have been noted to show improved mechanical properties, such as strength, elasticity, and cell responses essential for tissue engineering endeavors Rafat *et al.*, in 2008; Grover *et al.*, in 2013[11, 12].

Smart Hydrogels

Advanced biomaterials known as smart hydrogels change according to their environmental conditions, such as pH, temperature, and light. Such characteristics makes smart hydrogels highly suitable for cartilage bioprinting and tissue engineering El-Husseiny et al., in 2022 [13]. Temperature sensitive hydrogels like PNIPAA can encapsulate cells and deliver growth factors while pH sensitive hydrogels adjust the rates of swelling in response to changes in pH, which is useful in drug delivery. Photodegradable hydrogels provide spatial and temporal control over tissue development. These hydrogels enable the sustained delivery of growth factors, the modulation of mechanical properties, and the activation of scaffolds for tissue repair. In bioprinting, they offer a means to control the viscosity for enhanced shape accuracy and alterability of properties. However, the challenge that arises in the case of cartilage regeneration applications is to obtain the right balance of all these properties, namely responsiveness, biocompatibility, and mechanical strength Bordbar-Khiabani and Gasik et al., in 2022 in 2022 [14].

Nanomaterials

Graphene and Carbon Nanotubes (CNTs) are two promising nanomaterials widely incorporated into cartilage bioprinting to enhance both mechanical properties and biological activity. Graphene based nanocomposites improve mechanical strength, electrical conductivity, cell adhesion and proliferation. CNTs can give support as well as enhance the mechanical characteristics and act as a vehicle for controlled drug delivery Di Marzio et al., in 2020 [15]. Nanoparticles added to bioinks improve the printability of the material, replicate native cartilage conditions, and provide additional properties, including mechanical strength and conductivity. Some examples include graphene oxide/scaffold composites and CNT/collagen composites which demonstrate enhanced mechanical properties and cell growth. Some pertinent issues include the uniform distribution of nanoparticles, the compatibility of mechanical and biological properties, and toxicity of certain nanomaterials Theus et al., in 2021 [16]. Further work on nanomaterials will be important in the development of functional and biomimetic cartilage

constructs. Bioactive Molecules

Bioactive molecules including growth factors like TGF-B and BMPs are essential for chondrogenesis during cartilage bioprinting Thielen et al., in 2019 [17]. TGF- β is involved in cartilage formation through the regulation of MSC chondrogenic differentiation as well as synthesis of Extracellular Matrix (ECM). BMP-2 and BMP-7 are also reported to promote chondrogenesis, increase chondrocyte proliferation and ECM production (Wu et al., in 2024)[18]. However, some BMPs can induce hypertrophy, which is not favorable for articular cartilage tissue. TGF- β and BMPs have been found to acts synergistically when used together, and thus can enhance chondrogenic differentiation. The incorporation of biomaterials included direct addition, encapsulation, surface modification and gene delivery. Important factors include dose, timing, stability and compatibility with scaffold materials to enhance effective controlled tissue regeneration Keller et *al.*, in 2011; Liu *et al.*, in 2023[19, 3].

Enhancing Material Performance in Cartilage Bioprinting Identifying research gaps in the material aspect of cartilage bioprinting reveals several issues. The current hydrogels do not possess sufficient mechanical properties for cartilage applications; stiffer composite materials including graphene or carbon nanotubes are yet to be investigated Crawford et al., in 2021 [20]. There are two major challenges with respect to material selection that remains to be addressed: controlling degradation rates on par with tissue formation and designing stimuli responsive hydrogels Theus et al., in 2021 [16]. The chronic biocompatibility, immunogenicity and stability of new materials-especially of nanomaterials-requires further research. Yet another challenge is the surface modification of the biomaterials for growth factor delivery and chondrogenesis, without causing hypertrophy. Moreover, enhanced technology translation for clinical application, developing smart biomaterials, enhancing angiogenesis, and addressing immune responses are still challenging and significant research topics for future studies involving materials used in bioprinting Crawford et al., in 2021; Theus et al., in 2021[16, 20].

Traditional 3d Bioprinting Approaches

Traditional 3D bioprinting approaches, including extrusion bioprinting, inkjet bioprinting, and laser direct bioprinting, each have their own advantages and disadvantages, as noted by Di Marzio *et al.*, in 2020 [15]. Extrusion based bioprinting is cheap and has high adaptability; but has low resolution and affects cells with shear force. Inkjet bioprinting is fast but has low cell viability. It is suitable for low viscosity bioinks, and can be blocked as well. Laser assisted bioprinting works with high resolution and cell compatible fabrication but has high cost, low rate of production and less flexibility Vijayavenkataraman *et al.*, in 2023 [21]. These traditional methods of 3D bioprinting are associated with a number of general disadvantages. Low resolution, ranging from hundred to two hundred micrometers, prevents the recreation of the intricate microstructure of tissues. Lower printing rates, particularly in laser assisted approaches, result in long fabrication durations which might affect cell survival. As the size of the constructs increases, issues such as cell survival and construct stability become more difficult to address Wu et al., in 2023 [18]. Viscoelastic properties like viscosity of bioink impose limitations on the nature of biomaterials that may be employed. In addition, the postprinting maturation, insufficient vascularization, mechanical durability issues, and the inability to consistently replicate the procedure from one batch to the next make the process difficult. These limitations have been a subject of worry and are being investigated with the aim of increasing resolution, rate, and scale. This research will help to preserve biological functionality for superior tissue engineering and bioprinting applications Di Marzio et al., in 2020; Vijayavenkataraman et al., in 2023; Wu et al., in 2023 [15, 18, 21].

High-Resolution Bioprinting

Two-photon polymerization is a bioprinting method that utilizes a high resolution and is applicable for the assembly of cartilage tissue. It makes it possible to create sophisticated 3D structures with a spatial resolution of around tens of nanometers, suitable for the production of scaffolds that have a topography similar to the natural ECM of cartilage Jing et al., in 2022 [22]. The benefits of TPP include resolution around 100 nm, precise control over scaffold architecture and possibility to fabricate complex structures. It may also contain bioactive molecules and help cell proliferation by controlling pore size and connectivity. However, TPP has drawbacks including slow fabrication rates, small build volumes, and a limited choice of materials Valente et al., in 2022 [23]. Current research focuses are directed on the increase of speed, widening of materials, and optimization of scaffolds to promote cartilage regeneration. Although primarily a research application, TPP holds great potential for the development of new generation cartilage tissue engineering scaffolds Jing et al., in 2022; Valente et al., in 2022[22, 23].

4d Bioprinting

4D bioprinting is a new development of the 3D bioprinting technique that involves the use of smart or stimuli responsive materials where the scaffold structures can change shape or function in response to stimuli. In cartilage tissue engineering, 4D bioprinting can be a powerful tool for designing dynamic scaffolds that can produce an optimal mechanical and biological environment during the tissue formation process Yazdanpanah *et al.*, in 2022 [23, 24]. The benefits include the potential for replicating native chondrogenesis, modulating properties in response to mechanical stimuli, and altering geometry to match defect spaces. This technique generally employs smart materials sensitive to temperature, pH, mechanical loading and biochemical signals. Some issues are still present in the creation of bioinks with suitable rheological properties and bio-properties, and in the ability to maintain scaffold configurations over time and to control change. Still, 4D bioprinting is a promising approach towards designing cartilage scaffolds that are more adaptive and biomimetic Di Marzio *et al.*, in 2020; Yazdanpanah *et al.*, in 2022[15, 24].

Hybrid Bioprinting Techniques

The use of multiple techniques in a single process is called 'hybrid bioprinting', widely employed to address the drawbacks of singular methods in tissue engineering, hence improving both the mechanical and biological aspects. There is no universal answer to tissue engineering needs regarding scale. Therefore, synergistic methods incorporate the benefits of extrusion and laser bioprinting or multiple heads in a single bioprinter Wu et al., in 2023 [18]. This makes it possible to fabricate scaffolds with multiple materials, gradients, high resolution, high accuracy and improved mechanical properties. Hybrid techniques also allow the incorporation of one or more cell types and biomolecules which offers better control over the scaffold architecture and the cell distribution. Some of the uses are tissue engineered constructs, vascularized models and functional scaffolds. However, issues like complexity, cost and cell damage resulting from multiple processing steps persist with this method. Future directions include better integration, expansion, and robotization for the improved and biomimetic tissue assembly Wu et al., in 2023[18].

Microfluidic-Assisted Bioprinting

Bioprinting for cartilage tissue engineering using microfluidic techniques offers high fidelity in the fabrication of 3D tissue scaffolds with optimal resolution and customizable cell organization. This enables precise control over flow, mixing, and deposition of cells and bioinks in microchannels. Thus, minimizing shear stress and providing a better physiological environment for native cartilage formation Serex et al., in 2021[25]. This technique enables fabrication of scaffolds with multiple materials and gradients, and tubular and vascularized structures, which are essential for nutrition and interfaces between cartilage and bone Lee et al., in 2022 [26]. Some applications include creation of zonal cartilage constructs, delivery of bio active molecules and formation of hydrogel fibers. Some of the issues facing bioinks are composition of bioinks, their stability and scalability for tiss ues of large size. Future developments for optimal use if this technique requires integrating the hybrid modal techniques, utilizing stimuli sensitive material, and optimizing artificial intelligence inspired automation technology for clinical use Davoodi et al., in 2020; Serex et al., in 2021; Lee et al., in 2022[26-28]. **Improving Bioprinting Methods for Enhanced Precision** Several issues remain in the scalability and standardization of bioprinting, with a notable focus on the transition from **Table 1** Disprinting Table is and Table focus on the transition from laboratory scale to clinical scale [29-31]. Existing methods are still limited by the scaffold size, speed, resolution and cell integrity when moving from micro to macroscale (Table 1).

Table 1: Bioprinting Techniques and Their Key Advantages and Limitations

Technique Type	Resolution	Speed	Material Compatibility	Scalability	Strengths	Weaknesses	Sources
Hybrid Bioprinting	Varies based on combined techniques	Moderate	Varied based on techniques	High	Combines strengths of multiple techniques	Complexity and cost,potential cell damage	[3]
Microfluidic-assisted Bioprinting	10-100 Î ¹ ⁄4m	High	High compatibility with various bioinks	High	Precise control over material deposition	Bioink stability, difficult to scale for large tissues	[26]
Extrusion-based Bioprinting	100-300 μm	Medium	High (hydrogels, polymers)	High	Adaptable, supports multiple materials, cost-effective	Low resolution, potential cell damage due to shear force	[27, 28]
Inkjet Bioprinting	50-100 Î ¹ ⁄4m	High	Low viscosity materials only	Medium	High speed, good for low viscosity bioinks	Low cell viability, risk of nozzle clogging	[29]
Laser-assisted Bioprinting	10-50 μm	Low	Limited to specific bioinks	Low	High precision, cell-friendly process	High cost, low throughput, limited materials	[30]
Two-photon Polymerization (TPP)	100 nm	Very Low	Limited to photo- sensitive materials	Low	Ultra-high resolution, suitable for complex structures	Very slow, small build volumes	[31]
4D Bioprinting	Depends on the material used	Depends on the material responsiveness	Depends on smart materials used	Medium	Dynamic scaffolds, can adjust over time	Still experimental, challenging material control	[32 ,33]

Furthermore, the field also lacks standard operating procedures which cause variability in outcomes between them. Bioink repositories, quality assessment protocols, and approaches for the evaluation of bioinks and constructs are critical to the process Liang *et al.*, in 2023 [34, 35]. Feedback during the process of bioprinting is not continuous, leading to the need for multifunctional sensor systems in bioprinting. Others include regulatory issues, problems associated with multimaterial capability, and the requirement for bioinks that are both easy to print and biologically active. Other processes that require improvement post-printing processes, such as tissue maturation. Some of the important areas that will enable bioprinting to progress to clinical use are automation. Similarly, there is the challenge of the competence that needs to be addressed to overcome these gaps. It is clear that addressing these gaps will require interdisciplinary work and innovative technologies Liang *et al.*, in 2023 [35].

Mechanical and Biological Integration

One of the major limitations is the inability to achieve native cartilage mechanical properties in bioprinted scaffolds. However, hydrogels, which are widely utilized in bioprinting, generally do not possess the mechanical characteristics necessary for joint function. As a result, there is interest in the establishment of multi-material printing methods and the use of thermoplastic materials in combination with hydrogels for improved mechanical characteristics Fan *et al.*, in 2022 [9]. Thermoplastics can act as a supportive skeleton, and hybrid scaffolds exhibit mechanical properties similar to those of pure thermoplastic scaffolds. Additionally, modulating the crosslinking density and bioink concentration of alginate or PEG based hydrogels enhances the mechanical characteristic of the scaffold Zhou *et al.*, in 2023 [36]. Biological integration is also crucial while using bioactive molecules such as TGF- β 1 or components of the ECM to enhance chondrocyte differentiation and cell adhesion. The structure of the osteochondral junction is mimicked by scaffolds with multiple phases, particularly hybrid structures that have varying mechanical features, which are advantageous for cartilage tissue engineering Liang et al., in 2022 [29]. Nanocomposites with graphene and silk fibroin-based components are being invented for 3D bioprinting, which unite printability, mechanical characteristics, and biocompatibility [9]. In an attempt to generate bioprinted cartilage constructs that have enhanced mechanical and biological characteristics for better long term results, other post-processing methods such as mechanical stimulation are applied to advance tissue formation in the maturation phase Di Marzio et al., in

2020; Liang *et al.*, in 2022; Zhou *et al.*, in 2023[15, 35, 36]. **Vascularization and Nutrient Supply**

The absence of vascularization in native articular cartilage, which depends on diffusion from the synovial fluid for nutrients, creates a major obstacle for the engineering of large cartilage constructs. In the absence of vascularization, oxygen and nutrient supply to deep cells within the tissue is constricted, causing cell death and necrosis in the core of engineered scaffolds. This outcome is a necrotic center accompanied by viable cells, which lessens the overall functionality and size of the cartilage Gonçalves et al., in 2021 [13]. New approaches to this problem include the application of vascularization promoting factors such as VEGF and bFGF, which can stimulate blood vessel infiltration, however, this leads to the potential change in cartilage formation. The bioprinting techniques that employ gradients such as growth factor or oxygen gradients can control cell behavior and zonal differentiation. Another strategy is the pre-vascularization of scaffolds by preparing vessel like channels or culturing chondrocytes with endothelial cells. These strategies are intended to improve nutrient delivery while preserving the avascular characteristic of cartilage, which is imperative for tissue engineering applications Gonçalves et al., in 2021; Shineh et al., in 2023 [37, 38].

Immune Response and Biocompatibility

The major challenges of cartilage tissue engineering today include immune rejection and inflammatory responses in the sense that the implanted biomaterials elicit foreign body responses. This can result in acute and chronic inflammation or fibrotic encapsulation, and therefore hinder integration and functionality of cartilage constructs manufactured through bioprinting Tripathi et al., in 2023 [38, 39]. These challenges are rooted in both inherent and acquired immunity and affected by the properties of scaffolds such as material, size and shape and tissue type Salthouse et al., in 2023 [40]. To improve immunomodulation, bioactive scaffolds are under development to direct immune responses by linking immunomodulatory molecules such as TGF-B1 to create anti-inflammatory conditions Wei et al., in 2019 [51]. Collagen and hyaluronic acid incorporated materials that are immune compatible and resemble the extracellular matrix avoid foreign body reactions. Surfaces coatings are also examined using anti-inflammation molecules and stimuli-responsive material to control immune response. Furthermore, approaches that seek to modulate macrophages and regulatory T-cells also seek to modify the immune response for a more regenerative phenotype to foster tissue integration and chronic regeneration Wei et al., in 2021; Salthouse et al., in 2023; Tripathi et al., in 2023 [4,39,40].

Clinical Translation and Regulatory Challenges

Although there are many progresses in bioprinting, the

application of the research into clinical use is still difficult. The use of biologically functional materials and the ability to incorporate printed tissues with physiological vasculature and multiple cell types are still a challenging task. These factors impede the clinical translation of bioprinted cartilage implants Ruiz-Cantu et al., in 2020[41]. The regulatory FDA/EMA guidelines for bioprinted implants are still challenging to follow since it remains a new technology. Patient care safety is relatively well defined with a focus on preclinical testing and chronic studies without standard reporting formats and quality assurance. Testing methods and bioprinting reproducibility are some of the preclinical requirements and advances that need to be standardized Ruiz-Cantu et al., in 2020 [41]. More longterm in vivo studies and improved in vitro models are required in order to make predictions. In terms of the growth of the research focal areas, biomimicry, scalable solutions and collaborations with academic institutions, industry and regulatory agencies will be helpful to streamline the process Liu et al., in 2023 [3]. To increase the functionality and integration of the printed tissue constructs, it will be necessary to improve the postprinting maturation and support the rapid formation of new blood vessels Davoodi et al., in 2020; Ruiz-Cantu et al., in 2020; Liu et al., in 2023; Wei et al., in 2021[3, 4, 28, 41].

Emerging Frontiers in Bioprinting

New trend in the bioprinting has been focused on developing patient specific solutions using Patient Derived Cells, induced pluripotent stem cells or personalised scaffold. The presence of individual growth factors and biomolecules also enhances the formation of the tissues, following the multiple experimental designs. Some of the applications of Artificial Intelligence (AI) is assisting to optimize bioprinting parameters, predicting tissue characteristics, and developing AI integrated tools for intricate scaffold structures Liu et al., in 2023 [3]. The current focus of scaffold design is on mechanical loading for the purpose of replicating the physiological environment for the dynamic culture of bioprinted constructs. These systems are usually linked to bioprinters for the ongoing maturation of tissue. Additionally, using bioprinting in combination with organ-on-a-chip technology allows for the manufacture of functional constructs of cartilage for drug screening and multi-tissue applications. This is necessary to elucidate the mechanical and biological characteristics of printed cartilage constructs and their integration and remodeling over time. The integration of biocompatible sensors with bioprinted constructs might facilitate the assessment of tissue functionality following implantation, including its mechanical and metabolic characteristics for the development of smart implants [40, 41]. Developing new biomaterials includes the design of stimuli responsive bioinks as well as the production of gradient materials to mirror native cartilage. The focus of vascularization techniques is to deliver nutrients to the tissue construct; enhancements to scalability and automation are necessary for tissue constructs that are applicable for clinical use Davoodi *et al.*, in 2020 [28]. The direct printing of these in situ fabrication techniques into the site of the defect during surgery is being considered. Another important area where immunomodulatory factors are being added to constructs is to facilitate tissue integration. The innovations are aimed at remedying current problems and moving cartilage bioprinting nearer to clinical use Liu *et al.*, in 2023; Shopova *et al.*, in 2023[3, 42].

CONCLUSIONS

Recent advancements in cartilage tissue bioprinting are mainly based on new biomaterials such as composite hydrogels, smart hydrogels, and nanomaterials that have better mechanical and biological performance. Techniques like 4D bioprinting, high resolution bioprinting and hybrid bioprinting are allowing for the development of improved and functional tissue scaffolds. However, issues such as low mechanical strength, poor incorporation of vessels, immunological reactions, and regulatory challenges are still a limiting factor. The shortcomings, such as scalability, biocompatibility, and protocol standardization, need to be addressed to advance toward clinical application. In the future, the prospects of combining artificial intelligencebased processes and smart materials are expected to define the new era of cartilage regeneration, providing the development of personalized, long lasting and functional tissue scaffolds.

Authors Contribution

Conceptualization: ARJ Methodology: ARJ, ZZ Formal analysis: ARJ, ZZ Writing, review and editing: ARJ, ZZ

All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

All the authors declare no conflict of interest.

Source of Funding

The author received no financial support for the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

REFERENCES

- Galarraga JH, Kwon MY, Burdick JA. 3D bioprinting via an in situ crosslinking technique towards engineering cartilage tissue. Scientific Reports. 2019 Dec; 9(1): 19987. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-56117-3.
- [2] Perera K, Ivone R, Natekin E, Wilga CA, Shen J, Menon JU. 3D bioprinted implants for cartilage repair in intervertebral discs and knee menisci. Frontiers in

Bioengineering and Biotechnology.2021Oct; 9:754113. doi:10.3389/fbioe.2021.754113.

- [3] Liu H, Müller PE, Aszódi A, Klar RM. Osteochondrogenesis by TGF-β3, BMP-2 and noggin growth factor combinations in an ex vivo muscle tissue model: Temporal function changes affecting tissue morphogenesis. Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology.2023 Mar; 11: 1140118. doi: 10.3389/ fbioe.2023.1140118.
- [4] Wei F, Liu S, Chen M, Tian G, Zha K, Yang Z et al. Host response to biomaterials for cartilage tissue engineering: key to remodeling. Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology.2021 May; 9: 66459 2. doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2021.664592.
- [5] Łabowska MB, Cierluk K, Jankowska AM, Kulbacka J, Detyna J, Michalak I. A review on the adaption of alginate-gelatin hydrogels for 3D cultures and bioprinting. Materials.2021 Feb; 14(4): 858. doi: 10.339 0/ma14040858.
- [6] Ren P, Wei D, Liang M, Xu L, Zhang T, Zhang Q. Alginate/gelatin-based hybrid hydrogels with function of injecting and encapsulating cells in situ. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules. 2022Jul;212:67-84.doi:10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2022.05.05 8.
- [7] Serafin A, Culebras M, Collins MN. Synthesis and evaluation of alginate, gelatin, and hyaluronic acid hybrid hydrogels for tissue engineering applications. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules. 2023 Apr; 233: 123438. doi: 10.1016/j. ijbiomac.2023.12 3438.
- [8] Wierzbicka A, Bartniak M, Waśko J, Kolesińska B, Grabarczyk J, Bociaga D. The Impact of Gelatin and Fish Collagen on Alginate Hydrogel Properties: A Comparative Study.Gels. 2024 Jul; 10(8): 491. doi: 10.3 390/gels10080491.
- [9] Andreazza R, Morales A, Pieniz S, Labidi J. Gelatinbased hydrogels: potential biomaterials for remediation. Polymers.2023 Feb; 15(4): 1026. doi:10 .3390/polym15041026.
- [10] Jiao T, Lian Q, Lian W, Wang Y, Li D, Reis RL et al. Properties of collagen/sodium alginate hydrogels for bioprinting of skin models. Journal of Bionic Engineering.2023 Jan; 20(1): 105-18. doi: 10.1007/s42 235-022-00251-8.
- [11] Grover GN, Rao N, Christman KL. Myocardial matrixpolyethylene glycol hybrid hydrogels for tissue engineering. Nanotechnology. 2013 Dec; 25(1): 014011. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/25/1/014011.
- [12] Rafat M, Li F, Fagerholm P, Lagali NS, Watsky MA, Munger R et al. PEG-stabilized carbodiimide crosslinked collagen-chitosan hydrogels for corneal

2217/3dp-2022-0026.

fbioe.2022.994355.

- [13] tissue engineering. Biomaterials.2008 Oct; 29(29):39 60-72. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.06.017. El-Husseiny HM, Mady EA, Hamabe L, Abugomaa A, Shimada K, Yoshida T et al. Smart/stimuli-responsive hydrogels: Cutting-edge platforms for tissue
- engineering and other biomedical applications. [14] Materials Today Bio. 2022 Jan; 13: 100186. doi: 10.1016/ j.mtbio.2021.100186. Bordbar-Khiabani A and Gasik M. Smart hydrogels for advanced drug delivery systems. International Journal
- [15] of Molecular Sciences.2022 Mar; 23(7): 3665. doi: 10. 3390/ijms23073665. Di Marzio N, Eglin D, Serra T, Moroni L. Bio-fabrication: convergence of 3D bioprinting and nano-biomaterials in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine.
- [16] Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology.2020 Apr; 8: 326. doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2020.00326. Theus AS, Ning L, Jin L, Roeder RK, Zhang J, Serpooshan V. Nanomaterials for bioprinting: functionalization of tissue-specific bioinks. Essays in
- [17] Biochemistry.2021 Aug; 65(3): 429-39. doi: 10.1042/E BC20200095.

Thielen NG, van der Kraan PM, van Caam AP. TGFβ/BMP

- [18] signaling pathway in cartilage homeostasis. Cells. 2019 Aug; 8(9): 969. doi: 10.3390/cells8090969. Wu M, Wu S, Chen W, Li YP. The roles and regulatory mechanisms of TGF- β and BMP signaling in bone and cartilage development, homeostasis and disease. Cell
- [19] Research. 2024 Feb; 34(2): 101-23.doi: 10.1038/s4142 2-023-00918-9. Keller B, Yang T, Chen Y, Munivez E, Bertin T, Zabel B et al. Interaction of TGF β and BMP signaling pathways
- [20] during chondrogenesis. PLOS One.2011 Jan;6(1):e1642 1. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016421. Crawford L, Wyatt M, Bryers J, Ratner B. Biocompatibility evolves: phenomenology to
- [21] Materials.2021 Jun; 10(11): 2002153. doi: 10.1002 /adhm .202002153. Vijayavenkataraman S. 3D bioprinting: challenges in

[22] 3D Printing in Medicine.2023 May; 7(2): 3DP8. doi: 10.

[23] Biotechnology.2022 Aug;10:994355.doi:10.3389/

commercialization and clinical translation. Journal of

Jing X, Fu H, Yu B, Sun M, Wang L. Two-photon

polymerization for 3D biomedical scaffolds: Overview

and updates. Frontiers in Bioengineering and

Valente F, Hepburn MS, Chen J, Aldana AA, Allardyce

BJ, Shafei S et al. Bioprinting silk fibroin using two-

photon lithography enables control over the physico-

chemical material properties and cellular response.

toxicology to regeneration. Advanced Healthcare [31] 31(28): 7250-6. doi:10.1016/j .biomaterials.2010.05.

055.

Copyright © 2025. PJHS, Published by Crosslinks International Publishers LLC, USA

This work is licensed under a Creative

/admt.201901044. Tan EY, Suntornnond R, Yeong WY. High-resolution

[30] Printing and Additive Manufacturing. 2021 Feb; 8(1): 69-

78. doi: 10.1089/3dp.2020.0153.

novel indirect bioprinting of low-viscosity cell-laden

hydrogels via model-support bioink interaction. 3D

Guillotin B, Souguet A, Catros S, Duocastella M,

Pippenger B, Bellance S et al. Laser assisted

bioprinting of engineered tissue with high cell density

and microscale organization. Biomaterials. 2010 Oct;

Keriquel V, Oliveira H, Rémy M, Ziane S, Delmond S,

Rousseau B et al. In situ printing of mesenchymal

stromal cells, by laser-assisted bioprinting, for in vivo

[32] bone regeneration applications. Scientific Reports.

[33] implantation. International Journal of Bioprinting.

2023 May; 9(5): 764. doi: 10.18063/ijb.764.

:10.1186/s40824-018-0122-1.

2017 May; 7(1): 1778. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-01914-x.

Qu G, Huang J, Gu G, Li Z, Wu X, Ren J. Smart implants:

4D-printed shape-morphing scaffolds for medical

Gopinathan J and Noh I. Recent trends in bioinks for 3D

printing. Biomaterials Research. 2018 Apr; 22(1): 11.doi

- Costantini M, Swieszkowski W et al. Extrusion and microfluidic-based bioprinting to fabricate biomimetic tissues and organs. Advanced Materials [29] Technologies.2020 Aug; 5(8): 1901044. doi: 10.1002
- printed bio-piezoelectric smart scaffolds for nextgeneration bone tissue engineering. International [28] Journal of Extreme Manufacturing.2023 Jun; 5(3): 032007.doi:10.1088/2631-7990/acd88f. Davoodi E, Sarikhani E, Montazerian H, Ahadian S,

[27] engineering. NPG Asia Materials. 2022 Dec; 14(1): 6.doi :10.1038/s41427-022-00355-x. Chen A, Su J, Li Y, Zhang H, Shi Y, Yan C et al. 3D/4D

1758-5090/abca80. Lee B, Kim S, Ko J, Lee SR, Kim Y, Park S et al. 3D micromesh-based hybrid bioprinting: multidimensional liquid patterning for 3D microtissue

Apr; 10: 824156. doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2022.824156. Serex L, Sharma K, Rizov V, Bertsch A, McKinney JD, Renaud P. Microfluidic-assisted bioprinting of tissues and organoids at high cell concentrations. [26] Biofabrication. 2021 Mar; 13(2): 025006. doi: 10.1088/

Yazdanpanah Z, Johnston JD, Cooper DM, Chen X. 3D bioprinted scaffolds for bone tissue engineering: State-of-the-art and emerging technologies.

[24] Bioprinting.2022 Mar; 25: e00183. doi: 10.1016/j.bprint

[25] Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology.2022

.2021.e00183.

Bioprinting for Cartilage Regeneration **DOI:** https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i1.1186

- [34] Mainardi VL, Arrigoni C, Bianchi E, Talò G, Delcogliano M, Candrian C et al. Improving cell seeding efficiency through modification of fiber geometry in 3D printed scaffolds. Biofabrication. 2021 Apr; 13(3): 035025. doi: 10.1088/1758-5090/abe5b4.
- [35] Liang Q, Ma Y, Yao X, Wei W. Advanced 3D-printing bioinks for articular cartilage repair. International Journal of Bioprinting.2022 Apr; 8(3): 511. doi: 10 .18063/ijb.v8i3.511.
- [36] Zhou J, Li Q, Tian Z, Yao Q, Zhang M. Recent advances in 3D bioprinted cartilage-mimicking constructs for applications in tissue engineering. Materials Today Bio. 2023 Dec; 23. doi: 10.1016/j.mtbio.2023.100870.
- [37] Gonçalves RC, Banfi A, Oliveira MB, Mano JF. Strategies for re-vascularization and promotion of angiogenesis in trauma and disease. Biomaterials. 2021 Feb;269:120628.doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.20 20 .120628.
- [38] Shineh G, Patel K, Mobaraki M, Tayebi L. Functional approaches in promoting vascularization and angiogenesis in bone critical-sized defects via delivery of cells, growth factors, drugs, and particles. Journal of Functional Biomaterials.2023 Feb; 14(2): 99. doi: 10.3390/jfb14020099.
- [39] Tripathi AS, Zaki ME, Al-Hussain SA, Dubey BK, Singh P, Rind L et al. Material matters: exploring the interplay between natural biomaterials and host immune system. Frontiers in Immunology.2023 Oct; 14: 1269 96 0. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1269960.
- [40] Salthouse D, Novakovic K, Hilkens CM, Ferreira AM. Interplay between biomaterials and the immune system: Challenges and opportunities in regenerative medicine. Acta Biomaterialia. 2023 Jan; 155: 1-8. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2022.11.003.
- [41] Ruiz-Cantu L, Gleadall A, Faris C, Segal J, Shakesheff K, Yang J. Multi-material 3D bioprinting of porous constructs for cartilage regeneration. Materials Science and Engineering: C. 2020 Apr; 109: 110578. doi: 10.1016/j.msec.2019.110578.
- [42] Shopova D, Yaneva A, Bakova D, Mihaylova A, Kasnakova P, Hristozova M et al. (Bio) printing in personalized medicine-opportunities and potential benefits. Bioengineering.2023 Feb; 10(3): 287. doi: 10. 3390/bioengineering10030287.

lip

PAKISTAN BIOMEDICAL JOURNAL

https://www.pakistanbmj.com/journal/index.php/pbmj/index ISSN(E): 2709-2798,(P): 2709-278X **Volume 8, Issue 01 (January 2025)**



Original Article

Assessment of Knowledge, Attitude and Practice among Nurses Regarding Safe Administration of Chemotherapy at Tertiary Care Hospitals of Peshawar

Ashfaq Ahmad¹, Abdullah², Muhammad Ziad³, Sajid Hameed⁴ and Imran Waheed Ahmad^{3*}

¹Universe College of Nursing, Peshawar, Pakistan

²Ayub International College of Nursing and Allied Health Sciences, Peshawar, Pakistan

³Institute of Nursing Sciences, Khyber Medical University, Peshawar, Pakistan

⁴Ghazali College of Nursing, Peshawar, Pakistan

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords:

Knowledge, Practice, Nurses, Chemotherapy

How to Cite:

Ahmad, A., Abdullah, ., Ziad, M., Hameed, S., & Waheed Ahmad, I.(2025). Assessment of Knowledge, Attitude and Practice among Nurses Regarding Safe Administration of Chemotherapy at Tertiary Care Hospitals of Peshawar: KAP among Nurses Regarding Safe Administration of Chemotherapy. Pakistan BioMedical Journal, 8(1), 11-17. https://doi. org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i1.1161

*Corresponding Author:

Imran Waheed Ahmad Institute of Nursing Sciences, Khyber Medical University, Peshawar, Pakistan imran.ins@kmu.edu.pk

Received date: 12th November, 2024 Revised date: 9th January, 2025 Acceptance date: 15th January, 2025 Published date: 31st January, 2025

ABSTRACT

It is well known that many anti-cancer medications can cause teratology and mutation in humans. The primary groups exposed to these drugs in a hospital setting are nurses. Typically, handling patient waste, administering and preparing antineoplastic agents, and cleaning up chemotherapy spills are the jobs that carry the highest risk of exposure. **Objectives:** To assess nurses' attitudes, practices, and Knowledge related to the safe administration of cytotoxic drugs. Methods: Descriptive and inferential statistics were used to analyze the data collected from 51 nurses who participated in a descriptive cross-sectional study conducted at Peshawar public sector hospitals. The study was conducted using a structured questionnaire and the Universal sampling technique. Results: The result shows that 49.0 % of total nurses have excellent Knowledge, and 41.2% of nurses have good Knowledge, regarding the safe administration of cytotoxic drugs. 29.4% of nurses have good practice. In comparison, 70.6% of total nurses have poor practice. Most nurses have a positive attitude towards safely handling chemotherapy drugs. Conclusions: It was concluded that this study comes to the following conclusion after a thorough analysis of a review of nurses' administration of chemotherapy to patients. The majority of samples had poor practice for giving chemotherapy drugs. As a result, it's essential to increase workplace safety, provide protective gear, and create best practices for oncology nurses.

INTRODUCTION

Of all forms of death and disability in the world, cancer tops the list [1]. According to estimates made by the World Health Organization (WHO), nearly 10 million deaths occurred due to cancer alone in 2020. Between 70 to 80 percent of global cancer deaths turn out to originate from low- and middle-income countries. Thus, an anticipated aggravation of that disproportionate burden projected for the next 10 years would be expected to happen in low- and middle-income countries [2]. In Asia, Pakistan has the highest rate of breast cancer. One in every nine women has a lifetime risk of being diagnosed with breast cancer [3, 4]. The surge in mortalities, especially in developing countries is likely due to delayed diagnosis, and limited access to

effective therapies and/or healthcare facilities, amongst other reasons. Although various cancer treatments, such as radiation therapy, targeted therapies, chemotherapy, and immunotherapy can be utilized, their availability or use may be delayed due to a lack of public awareness and late detection [4]. Antineoplastic drugs are currently the most used modality in cancer treatment all over the world. It destroys cancer cells in their cytotoxic effects. Chemotherapy is a type of cancer treatment that employs drugs to eliminate cancer cells [5]. Chemotherapy acts after preventing or retarding the growth of multiplication of cancer cells, which proliferate quickly. This type of unhealthy process has also affected healthy cells under chemotherapy treatment, causing side effects to the individual [6]. In most chemotherapy applications, cytotoxic drugs (CDs) have been used for their cancercarrying cell-killing functions. They have mutagenic, teratogenic, and carcinogenic effects on humans. Direct contact with healthcare providers is possible through mixtures, transportation, preparation, and administration, in addition to waste handling procedures, equipment maintenance, and repair [7]. Chemotherapeutic drugs are toxic to human tissues. Destruction of cells making possible the proliferation of an abnormal tissue is the primary goal of chemotherapy. Traditional chemotherapies kill quickly dividing cells. Damage is done to healthy fast-growing cells as well: mucous membrane cells lining the entire body's surfaces, including those of the mouth and throat, the stomach, blood-forming cells in the bone marrow, hair follicles, and others [8]. Nurses are the backbone of cancer care and their main roles include delivering therapy, managing side effects, educators to patients and their families about the adverse effects of chemo-treatment, and emotional support during the demanding process [9]. Guidelines for the safe handling of chemotherapy drugs (CDs) were put in place over 20 years ago, yet modern studies continue to show that the environment and healthcare workers get contaminated by such drugs, particularly in developing countries [10]. Lack of knowledge and economic and socio-cultural factors make the most contribution towards unsafe behaviours among healthcare workers (HCWs) when it comes to handling infectious materials. An epidemiologic study done in 2016 determined the immediate and contributing causes of exposure of HCWs to antineoplastics [11]. It was classified into 4 categories for immediate causes such as direct contact with CDs without personal protective equipment, needle-stick injury, spills, and other unintended exposures; and 3 categories of contributing causes such as lack of training, inadequate controls, and poor communication. Short-term health hazards arising from occupational exposure to CDs include skin rashes, sore throat, cough, dizziness and headache, eye irritation, hair loss, and allergic reactions while chronic health effects in unprotected HCWs who handle these drugs without following safety measures include genotoxicity, mutagenicity and carcinogenicity, poor reproductive outcomes such as spontaneous abortion, infertility and poor neonatal outcome; and organ toxicity such as bone marrow, liver, kidney, lung, and cardiac toxicity [12]. Unsafe or poor handling practices are indicated in several studies. Poor compliance may be linked to a lack of understanding and beliefs that there is a minimal likelihood of an immediate injury, nurses may believe they are immune to the risks of chemotherapy exposure. Moreover, no specialized training regarding chemotherapy and curriculum are provided to nurses, thus they learn these at

the bedside which increases the risk of these adverse effects both for patients and nurses. In all situations, Knowledge is essential for safe nursing practices. However, it becomes crucial when a nurse's lack of Knowledge endangers their or the patient's safety. According to a prior study, Chemotherapy may have unintentionally harmed the oncology work environment for more than thirty years [13]. A lot of work has been done in the past exploring the knowledge, attitude, and practice of healthcare professionals regarding the treatment and management of patients with cancer. On the contrary, very little work has been done to evaluate the parameters here in Pakistan.

This study aims to study Knowledge, Attitude and Practice (KAP)regarding chemotherapy handling among nurses.

METHODS

A descriptive cross-sectional study was conducted in a tertiary hospital in the Peshawar region, Pakistan (No.KMU-INS/14-/5785). The study duration was from 1st September 2020 to 1st Feb 2021. The calculated sample size was n=51 nurses based on n=510 as the total population of nurses working within the oncology unit, 95% CI and 5% marginal error. Participants were selected using a non-probability convenience sampling technique. All full-time nurses including those involved in patient care, having experience greater than 1 year working were included whereas, nursing internees' nurses who have faced significant personal trauma, were diagnosed with any mental disorder (depression, schizophrenia etc.) and severe medical conditions in the last 6 months were excluded. A written informed consent was taken from all the participants, and followed by data collection on a pre-designed adopted data collection tool having four parts e.g. Demographic data of the participants, questions related to Knowledge, practice and attitude related to safe handling of chemotherapeutic drugs. Among demographic variables age, marital status, gender, and education level were assessed. Strict exclusion criteria were used to exclude any bias or confounding factor from the study. Data were analyzed through SPSS version 26.0. The mean and standard deviation were calculated for numerical variables and frequency and percentages for categorical variables. A score of 80% to 100% was considered excellent, 60% to 80% was considered good and below 60% was taken as low knowledge and above 50 % was taken as good practice.

RESULTS

The descriptive statistics of the demographic data of nurses are shown. Most participants were male, n=28 (54.9%), compared to female participants n=23 (45.1%). Male make up the majority of the nursing workforce in the oncology unit. The largest age groups were 21-25 Years old n=23 (45.1%), 26-30 years old n=23 (45.1), followed by the age group >35 Years old n=3 (5.9%), and lastly 31-35 Years age

group was n=2(3.9%). Most of the oncology nurses are from the young age group. Single people made up 74.5% of the total participants (n=38), followed by married participants (n=13)(25.5%). The majority of participants were Bachelor of Science in Nursing (BSN) nurses n=32(62.7%), followed by Diploma nurses, n=10 (19.6%), nurses having Master of Science in Nursing (MSN) degrees n=1 (2.0%) and Post Registered Nurse (RN) n=8(15.7%). Most nurses have experience in the 1–5-year range, with n=44 (86.3%), followed by the 6–10-year range, n=4 (7.8%), and the last 11–15-year range, n=3(5.9%). The majority of the nurses who responded to the survey were from A (n=40; 78.4%), B (n=6; 11.8%), C (n=4; 7.8%) and lastly D n=1(2%) (Table 1).

Table 1: Demographic Data of the Nurses

Demographic Variables	Category	Frequency (%)
Condor	Female	23(45.1%)
Gender	Male	28(54.9%)
	А	6(11.8%)
Organization	В	1(2.0%)
organization	С	4(7.8%)
	D	40(78.4%)
	21-25 Years	23(45.1%)
٨٩٥	26-30 Years	23(3.9%)
Age	31-35 Years	2(3.9%)
	Greater Than 35	3 (5.9%)
	BSN	32(62.7%)
Qualification	Diploma	10(19.6%)
Qualification	MSN	1(2.0%)
	Post RN	8(15.7%)
Marital Status	Married	13 (25.5%)
maritai Status	Single	38(74.5%)
	1-5 Years	44 (86.3%)
Job Experience	11-15 Years	3 (5.9%)
	6-10 Years	4(7.8%)

The knowledge score of nurses ranges from min=40 to mix=100. The median is 70, the standard deviation is 14.84, and the mean is 73.92(Table 2).

Table 2: Descriptive Statistics of Nurse's Knowledge RegardingSafe Chemotherapy Handling

Variables	Knowledge Score
Valid	51
Missing	0
Mean	73.9216
Median	70.0000
Mode	60.00ª
SD	14.84297
Minimum	40.00
Maximum	100.00

As a result, it demonstrates that nurses are knowledgeable regarding the safe administration of chemotherapy drugs (Figure 1).



Figure 1: Descriptive Statistics: Mean, Mode, Median and SD of Nurse's Knowledge Regarding Safe Administration of Chemotherapy

The knowledge of nurses regarding safe chemotherapy drugs is highlighted. Only n=25(49%) participants were able to get 80% -100% scores, which is considered excellent Knowledge, n=21(41.2%) was able to get 60%-80% scores which are considered Good Knowledge, and n=5(9.8%) was able to get 60% and below score in the administration of chemotherapy knowledge(Table 3).

Table 3: Level of Nurse's Knowledge Regarding SafeAdministration of Chemotherapy

	Variables	Frequency (%)	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	Excellent Knowledge	25(49.0%)	49.0	49.0
Valid	Good Knowledge	21(41.2%)	41.2	90.2
vallu	Poor Knowledge	5(9.8%)	9.8	100.0
	Total	51(100.0%)	100.0	-

Percentage of knowledge level was analyzed (Figure 2).

Knowledge Level



■ Excellent Knowledge ■ Good Knowledge □ Poor Knowledge Figure 2: Level of Nurse's Knowledge Regarding Safe Administration of Chemotherapy

Level of Practice

18%

DOI: https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i1.1161

□Poor Practice

The descriptive statistics of the Nurse's Practice are presented. The average practice score of nurses on the safe handling of chemotherapeutic drugs is 44.90, which indicates that the nurses are following moderately safe practices. The score at the median level, which is 50, implies that half of the respondents scored at or below this figure, while the mode is 30, showing that this was the score that most frequently appeared. The standard deviation of 15.92 indicates that there is considerable variance in the scores, suggesting dissimilarity in the practice of nurses. The scores therefore range from a minimum of 10 to a maximum of 70. This shows that the range of practice includes very poor practice to excellent (Table 4).

Table 4: Descriptive Statistics of Nurse's Practice Regarding SafeAdministration of Chemotherapy

Variables	Practice Score
Valid	51
Missing	0
Mean	44.9020
Median	50.0000
Mode	30.00
SD	15.92138
Minimum	10.00
Maximum	70.00

In the total of 51 participants, as mentioned, n=15 (29.4%) participants were able to get a 60%-80% score which is considered in the good practice category, and n=36(70.6%) participants were able to get a score below 60 percent which is considered in poor practice level (Table 5).

Table 5: Level of Nurse's Practice Regarding Safe Administration

 of Chemotherapy

	Variables	Frequency (%)	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	Good Practice	15(29.4%)	29.4	29.4
Valid	Poor Practice	36(70.6%)	70.6	100.0
	Total	51(100.0%)	100.0	-

The level of Nurse's Practice Regarding the Safe Administration of Chemotherapy is analyzed (Figure 3).

ange from a
ows that the
to excellentGood PracticeFigure 3: Level of Nurse's Practice Regarding Safe Administration
of Chemotherapyregarding SafeThe first question "When a patient is on chemotherapy
comes to you, you feel with chemotherapy". 88.2 % of
presence selected the entire (Detired by discount of patients have
comes to you).

82%

nurses selected the option (Patient's disease is going to be cured), 2% selected the option (Any way patient is going to die), and 5.9% of participants selected the option (Not concerned about the outcome). In 2nd question "While handling cytotoxic drugs person needs" in which 98% of nurses selected the option (Self-protection), and 2% selected the option (None of the above). In 3rd question "Along with the patient's other family members also must be counselled regarding the disease and treatment". 96.1% of nurses selected the option (Yes), and 2% selected the option(No). In the 4th question "Administration of analgesic to the patient for pain relief must be" 45.1 % of nurses selected the option (Liberal as per the requirement of the pt.), 3.9% selected the option (Not important, it's part of the disease and should be told to the patient), and 51%participant selected the option (As per prescribed schedule only). In 5th question "Explanation of the Diagnosis to the patient and his relatives" 88.2 % of nurses selected the option (Must be explained in detail.), 7.8% selected the option (Need not necessary to explain.), and 2% of participants selected the option (It's not my duty). The majority of nurses have positive attitudes toward chemotherapy administration, whereas fewer have negative attitudes (Table 6).

Table 6: Descriptive Statistics of Nurse's Attitude Items Regarding Safe Administration of Chemotherapy

Question	Answer	Count	%
	The patient's disease is going to be cured.	45	88.2%
When a patient is on Chemotherapy comes to you,	Any Patient is going to die.	1	2.0%
you feel with Chemotherapy	Not concerned about the outcome	3	5.9%
	None of the above	2	3.9%
While bandling exterior drugs person peeds	Self-protection	50	98.0%
while handling cytotoxic drugs person needs	None of the above	1	2.0%
	Yes	49	96.1%
Along with the patient's other family members also must	No	1	2.0%
	Not sure	1	2.0%

	Liberal as per the requirement of the pt.	23	45.1%
Administration of analgesic to the patient for pain relief must be	Not important, it's part of the disease and should be told to the patient	2	3.9%
	As per the prescribed schedule only.	26	51.0%
	Must be explained in detail.	45	88.2%
Explanation of the Diagnosis to the patient and	It is not necessary to explain.	4	7.8%
his relatives.	lt's not my duty.	1	2.0%
	None of the above	1	2.0%

DISCUSSION

In general, the research shows that nurses know, practice, and demonstrate positive attitudes regarding the safe administration of chemotherapy, which is the most comprehensive evidence of their competency in this critical aspect of healthcare. The descriptive statistics show that even though the nurses have adequate knowledge regarding chemotherapy administration, they do not seem to apply all safety precautions consistently. A mean knowledge score of 73.92(SD=14.84)establishes that indeed, the participants have sufficient knowledge, with nearly half (49%) scoring excellently. In contrast, practice scores induce concern, with an average of 44.90 (SD=15.92) indicating most nurses do not practice competent safety methods consistently, with 70.6% falling under poor practice. The attitude assessment picture, however, appears positive, with most nurses reporting a constructive attitude towards the administration of chemotherapy, which is evidenced in their responses to various questions relating to attitude. The identified differences between knowledge and practices are attributable to various factors. First, while theoretical knowledge is almost always emphasized, converting that knowledge into actual practice necessitates ongoing clinical supervision and periodic training. This disparity could also relate to systemic issues concerning disallowed resource or staffing levels and barriers to access to personal protective equipment (PPEs) with these being very common in health systems in developing countries. Besides, the variance in practice score across respondents (as shown by SD of 15.92) indicates that individual factors such as work experience, access to professional development and institutional policies have a significant impact on practice behaviour [7]. While comparing the results with available reviews that point to targeted interventions, a study conducted discussed a low knowledge-practice gap among the nurses handling chemotherapy agents. In their study, the average knowledge score and practice scores were still below acceptable levels, mirroring the present results for the practice. Such comparisons indicate that the gap between theoretical knowledge and practical application needs full treatment for its pervasion [2]. Around the world, studies have reported different levels of knowledge and practice

among nurses about chemotherapy safety. The study, nevertheless, acknowledged the marked increase in practice scores among institutions that had chemotherapy safety guidelines with frequent training, indicating the role of organization support in promoting safer practices [3]. The attitude of the nurses, as shown in the present study, is overwhelmingly positive, with 88.2% of the participants believing that chemotherapy could cure the patient's disease, which translates into optimistic approaches toward their role in patient care. A study showed that the knowledge levels of nurses regarding the safety administration of intravenous chemotherapy were poor which is not consistent with our study [12]. Also, another Pakistani study consistent with the result of this study revealed that more than half of the nurses had poor practice indicating issues surrounding patient safety [8]. The finding of another study in Bangladesh resonates with results showed that nurses have average knowledge of chemotherapy handling, however, the use of personal protective equipment and biological safety cabinet, following guidelines, medical surveillance and training appear to be a hindrance [14, 15]. More fundamentally, it requires that nurses are educated and professionally trained about chemotherapy agent handling in nursing schools and service continuing education, and the required facilities are also adopted [16, 17]. To connect those gaps, regular competency-based training, providing sufficient resources, and developing clear and easily accessible chemotherapy handling guidelines should be instituted in healthcare institutions [18, 19]. Studies have found that simulation-based training programs significantly improve both knowledge and practice levels [20].

CONCLUSIONS

It was concluded that this study brings to the limelight the satisfactory knowledge and positive attitudes of nurses toward administering chemotherapy. However, a huge gap in practice, which means that systemic and individual-level interventions should be required. Continuous education, resource allocation, and establishment of supportive institutional policies toward converting these challenges into strengths meant that healthcare systems could render chemotherapy Administration Safer and More Efficacious Within Their Overall Operations.

Authors Contribution

Conceptualization: AA Methodology: AA, A, MZ, SH, IWA Formal analysis: AA Writing review and editing: IWA

All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Source of Funding

The author received no financial support for the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

$\mathsf{R} \to \mathsf{F} \to \mathsf{R} \to$

- [1] Gudhoor M, Ganachari MS, K J, Salimath GS. Onco-Pharmacist Led Evaluation of Knowledge, Attitude and Practice (KAP) of Safe Handling Cytotoxic Drugs among Health Care Professional's (HCP's) in Tertiary Care Hospital: A Hospital Based Interventional Study. Journal of Oncology Pharmacy Practice. 2023 Mar; 29(2): 263-9. doi: 10.1177/10781552211066957.
- [2] Winn A, Afolabi EK, Bifarin M, Avwioro T, Alatise OI, Kingham PT et al. Knowledge, Attitudes, and Practice of Chemotherapy Management among Nurses at Obafemi Awolowo University Teaching Hospital, Ile-Ife, Nigeria. Asia-Pacific Journal of Oncology Nursing. 2024 Mar; 11(3):100371. doi: 10.1016/j.apjon. 2023.100371.
- [3] Khan NH, Duan SF, Wu DD, Ji XY. Better Reporting and Awareness Campaigns Needed for Breast Cancer in Pakistani Women. Cancer Management and Research. 2021 Mar; 2: 2125–9. doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S2 70671.
- [4] Ali A, Manzoor MF, Ahmad N, Aadil RM, Qin H, Siddique R et al. The Burden of Cancer, Government Strategic Policies, and Challenges in Pakistan: A Comprehensive Review. Frontiers in nutrition. 2022 Jul; 9: 940514. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.940514.
- [5] Siddiqui R, Mehmood MH, Khan NA. An Overview of Breast Cancer in Pakistan. Discover Medicine. 2024 Oct; 1(1): 82. doi: 10.1007/s44337-024-00089-5.
- [6] Islami F, Baeker Bispo J, Lee H, Wiese D, Yabroff KR, Bandi P et al. American Cancer Society's Report on the Status of Cancer Disparities in the United States, 2023. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians. 2024 Mar; 74(2): 136-66. doi: 10.3322/caac.21812.
- [7] Qadir CS, Mahmood EK, Osman GA, Esmail DH, Omar YB. Safe Handling Knowledge and Practices of Chemotherapy among Oncology Nurses in Erbil City. Kufa Journal for Nursing Sciences. 2016 Apr; 6(1): 19-25. doi: 10.36321/kjns.vi20161.2623.

- [8] Arunachalam SS, Shetty AP, Panniyadi N, Meena C, Kumari J, Rani B et al. Study on Knowledge of Chemotherapy's Adverse Effects and Their Self-Care Ability to Manage the Cancer Survivors Impact. Clinical Epidemiology and Global Health. 2021 Jul; 11:100765. doi: 10.1016/j.cegh.2021.100765.
- [9] Mamdouh Zakaria M, Mohamed Alaa S, Mohamed Desoky G. Oncology Nurses' Knowledge and Practices Regarding Safe Administration of Intravenous Chemotherapy. Egyptian Journal of Health Care. 2022 Mar; 13(1): 1218-31. doi: 10.21608/ ejhc.2022.225111.
- [10] Taranikanti M, Panda S, Dash A, Yasmeen N, Siddique A, Behara J. Knowledge of Nurses About Breast Cancer Risk Factors, General Awareness and Screening Procedures in South India. International Journal of Medical Science and Public Health. 2014 Nov; 3(12):1. doi: 10.5455/ijmsph.2014.150820144.
- [11] Watheeq HH and Kadhim IA. Nurse's Practice Toward Oncology Patients During Chemotherapy Management. Journal of Positive School Psychology. 2022 Jul; 7769-79. doi: 10.53730/ijhs.v6nS4.10668.
- [12] Abu-Alhaija D, Bakas T, Shaughnessy E, Miller E. The Factors That Influence Chemotherapy Exposure Among Nurses: An Integrative Review. Workplace Health and Safety. 2023 May; 71(5): 212-27. doi: 10.117 7/21650799221140583.
- [13] Saker NS, Zrek AM, Taha SN. Nurses' Knowledge About the Safe Administration of Chemotherapy in the Oncology Center at Tishreen University Hospital in Lattakia. 2022 May; 140(2): 1831-39.
- [14] Koulounti M, Roupa Z, Charalambous C, Noula M. Assessment of Nurse's Safe Behavior Towards Chemotherapy Management. Materia Socio-Medica. 2019 Dec; 31(4): 282. doi: 10.5455/msm.2019.31.282-285.
- [15] Asefa S, Aga F, Dinegde NG, Demie TG. Knowledge and Practices on the Safe Handling of Cytotoxic Drugs Among Oncology Nurses Working at Tertiary Teaching Hospitals in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. Drug, Healthcare and Patient Safety. 2021 Mar: 71-80. doi: 10.2147/DHPS.S289025.
- [16] Hosen MS, Hasan M, Saiful Islam M, Raseduzzaman MM, Tanvirul Islam M, Tazbiul Islam M et al. Evaluation of Knowledge and Practice of Handling Chemotherapy Agents by Nurses: A Multi-Centre Studies In Bangladesh. International Journal of Community Medicine and Public Health. 2019 Oct; 6(10):4175. doi: 10.18203/2394-6040.ijcmph201944 71.
- [17] Hojati Z, Goudarzi F, Hasanvand S, Galehdar N, Birjandi M. The Impact of Training Chemotherapy

Safety Standards with A Smartphone Application on The Knowledge, Attitude, and Performance of Nurses. BioMed Central Nursing. 2023 Feb; 22(1): 43. doi: 10.1186/s12912-023-01199-8.

- [18] Mohsen MM and Fareed ME. Chemotherapy Safety Protocol for Oncology Nurses: Its Effect on Their Protective Measures Practices. World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology. 2013 Sep; 7(9):529-37.
- [19] Antúnez-Blancat A, Gago-Valiente FJ, García-Iglesias JJ, Merino-Navarro D. The Role of Nursing in the Management of Chemotherapy Extravasation: A Systematic Review Regarding Public Health. In Healthcare. 2024 Jul; 12(14): 1456. doi: 10.3390/ healthcare12141456.
- [20] Lien RY, Cheng CG, Hung SH, Wang CY, Lin HC, Lu SF et al. The Effect of the Knowledge, Skills, and Attitudes from Nurse Training Using in Situ Simulation in an Intensive Care Unit. In Healthcare. 2023 Oct; 11(21): 2851. doi: 10.3390/healthcare11212851.

lip

PAKISTAN BIOMEDICAL JOURNAL

https://www.pakistanbmj.com/journal/index.php/pbmj/index ISSN(E): 2709-2798, (P): 2709-278X **Volume 8, Issue 01 (January 2025)**



Original Article

Diagnostic Role of X-ray Imaging in Renal and Ureteric Calculi Keeping Computed Tomography as Gold Standard

Kalim Ullah¹', Touseef Qamar¹, Siraj Khan¹ and Bilal Ahmad¹

¹Department of Radiology, Superior University, Lahore, Pakistan

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords:

Kidney, Ureter and Bladder X-ray, Computed Tomography, Accuracy, Renal Colic, Urinary Stones

How to Cite:

Ullah, K., Qamar, T., Khan, S., & Ahmad, B. (2025). Diagnostic Role of X-ray Imaging in Renal and Ureteric Calculi Keeping Computed Tomography as Gold Standard: Diagnostic Role of X-ray Imaging in Renal and Ureteric Calculi. Pakistan BioMedical Journal, 8(1), 18-22. https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj. v8i1.1205

*Corresponding Author:

Kalim Ullah

Department of Radiology, Superior University, Lahore, Pakistan kalimsul@outlook.com

Received Date: 8th December, 2024 Revised Date: 23rd January, 2025 Acceptance Date: 26th January, 2025 Published Date: 31st January, 2025

ABSTRACT

The renal colic is an initial onset of flank discomfort that often radiates to the groin and may be linked with complication like hematuria and dysuria. Physicians initially use KUB plain x-ray imaging for the initial diagnosis and ultrasonography for the suspected calculi, and evaluation of the upper tract of urinary system. **Objectives:** To determine the diagnostic accuracy of x-ray KUB imaging in diagnosis of renal and ureteric calculi keeping computed tomographic scan as a gold standard. Methods: An ethically approved cross-sectional study was conducted at Magsood Medical Complex, Peshawar with a convenient sampling technique between August to November 2024. Data of KUB x-ray and CT scan were collected by predesigned proforma. Data were entered in SPSS version 27. Demographics were described in tables and applied Chi square test for the sensitivity and specificity of the KUB radiographic x-ray take the CT scan gold standard. Results: The sample size of the study was 235, where the mean and standard deviation of age was 33.77 ± 8.61 . The male patients were 152 (64.68%) and the female were 83 (35.32%) participated in this research study. The Chi square test result shows that x-ray was able to properly detect 92 cases of calculi verified by CT but missed 124 cases. While X-ray did not incorrectly identify any calculi. Conclusions: Although KUB x-ray imaging has been configured to be an initial diagnostic tool in detecting renal and ureteric calculi, its diagnostic yield lacks in comparison to CT scans.

INTRODUCTION

The renal colic is an initial onset of flank discomfort that often radiates to the groin and may be linked with complications like hematuria and dysuria [1-3]. The x-ray of kidney, ureter and bladder (KUB) is the basic and initial imaging modality to diagnose radiopague stones present in this area [4, 5]. Where Renal colic occurs when a stone forms in the kidney, ureter, urinary bladder, or urethra, obstructing the urine tract. it is the most common disease of the urinary tract, more prevalent among adult male population and it is associated with an increased risk of chronic renal disease . It has a 50% occurrence rate. The average prevalence of renal colic globally is 5-15% [7, 8], which varies depending on how the illness is distributed in different geographical locations [9]. Choosing the best methods for diagnosing urinary stones depends on a variety of parameters, including clinical environment,

patient body habits, financial expenses, and ionizing radiation tolerance [10]. Multiple imaging modalities are available, although extensive clinical usage is now confined to ultrasonography, kidney ureter bladder scan (KUB), plain film radiography, and computed tomography. Non contrast enhanced CT scan of the abdomen and pelvis consistently provide accurate diagnosis uterine tract infection (UTI) via exposing the ionizing radiation [11]. The physicians initially use KUB plain x-ray imaging for the initial diagnosis and ultrasonography for the suspected calculi which is radiolucent in nature as well as for the evaluation of the upper tract of urinary system because of the highly upper tract calculi and the concomitant bladder. CT scan diagnosis has become the universal standard reference in the diagnosis of urinary calculi with the high sensitivity 95-98% but KUB x-ray examination is also preferred by the

urologist before CT scan procedure [12, 13]. The management of calculi in the urinary system depends on the size of the stone and its nature [14, 15]. It may be radiolucent or radiopaque. Also, the lab test reports are mandatory to confirm the glomerulus filtration rate (GFR) and creatinine level of the patient [16-18]. Delays in the diagnosis and management of such conditions can lead to severe morbidity, renal obstruction, fistula, renal injury and may lead to renal system failure [19, 20]. In this study KUB plain x-ray radiography was used for the examination method of choice for patients with suspected ureteric and renal calculi.

This study aimed to investigate accuracy of x-ray KUB imaging in diagnosis of renal and ureteric calculi keeping computed tomographic scan as a gold standard.

METHODS

A cross-sectional study was conducted at Magsood Medical Complex, Peshawar from August to November 2024 after the approval (Ref no: SU91-MSAHW-S23-111) was obtained from the Superior University research board of studies and hospital ethical board. The sample size was calculated by openEPI calculator where confidence interval was 95% and margin of error was 5%, Z score was 1.96 and the prevalence value was 10% [21]. The final sample size was calculated to be 235, using convenient sampling technique. This approach was chosen to ensure that the study focused on individuals most likely to provide relevant insights into the diagnostic accuracy of imaging modalities for renal and ureteric calculi. During data collection, written consent was obtained from the patients and patients were guaranteed data confidentiality. The inclusion criteria comprised of both male and female who had flank pain less than 24 hours and advised for X-ray KUB and CT abdomen and pelvis scan, age between 20 to 50 years and willingness to participate. On the other hand, pregnant female, patients who had the history of abdominal trauma and morbidly obese patient (Men>129 kg women>113kg) were excluded. Patients were referred to the radiology department for x-ray KUB followed by CT abdomen and pelvis scan. Both x-ray KUB & CT scan were interpreted by consultant radiologists who have more than 10 years' experience in diagnostic medical reports. Time between the two tests was maximum of 2 hours. Demographics were noted on predesigned proforma including patient age, gender, weight, height and then calculated body mass index. Frequency and percentages were calculated of categorical variables like gender, findings on x-ray KUB and CT scan. Mean and Standard deviation was calculated for continue variables like age, body mass index, weight and height. Chi Square test was applied on categorical variables between x-ray KUB imaging and CT scan of abdomen and pelvis. Sensitivity and specificity were determined by taking findings on CT scan as gold standard and using 2 by 2 tables. All information was entered into and analyzed in statistical software SPSS version 27.

RESULTS

The sample size of the research study was 235, where the mean and standard deviation of age was 33.77 ± 8.61 . The male patients were 152 (64.68%) and the female were 83 (35.32%) participated in the research study. The minimum age was 18 years, and the maximum age was 49 years (Table 1).

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics of Variables

١	/ariables	Mean ± SD
	Age	33.77 ± 8616
Gender	Male	152(64.68%)
	Female	83(35.32%)

Statistically the age group was grouped between three categories, where in age between 18 to 30 years old patient frequency was 92 (39.1%), which is the largest individuals of our sample size, 31 to 40 age group patients' frequency was 79 (33.6%) and 41 to 49 age group patients' frequency was 64 (27.2%) as shown in table 2.

Table 2 : Age Group Analysis

Age Group	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
18-30	92	39.1%	39.1%	39.1%
31-40	79	33.6%	33.6%	72.8%
41-49	64	27.2%	27.2%	100.0%
Total	235	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

It was determined that 46 (19.6%) patients were diabatic and 77 (32.8) were hypertensive patients, 132 (56.2%) patients having hematuria in urination and 103 (43.8%) patients were normally excrete the urination, from medical history of the patients we found that 126 (53.6%) patients under medical treatment, two of them took lithotripsy treatment and 109 (46.4%) were not taking medication in past history. In 235 patients 83 (35.3%) took Injection Toradal with 100 ml saline used for severe pain killer and 53 (22.6%) patients took Capsule Tamsoline 0.4 mg work as a muscle's relaxant, the remaining 99 (42.1%) patients not taken injection or any first aid medication from preventing the pain. With CT being the gold standard, the table compares the results of X-ray KUB with CT KUB in the diagnosis of renal and ureteric calculi. It displays the distribution and frequency of instances according to whether or not calculi were found using both approaches. 92 instances (39.1%) out of 235 cases had both X-ray and CT scan results showing calculi (true positives). A total of 124 (52.8%) instances had a negative X-ray but a positive CT scan, indicating that the X-ray missed these cases (false negatives). 19 patients (8.1%) had genuine negative results from both CT and X-ray scans. Since calculi were never detected by X-ray and their absence was verified by CT, there were no false positives (Table 3).

Table 3: Crosstabulation of x-ray KUB and CT Findings for the

 Diagnosis of Renal and Ureteric Calculi

Finding on X-ray KUB	Finding of CT KUB: Positive	Finding of CT KUB: Negative	Total
Positive	92 (39.1%)	0(0.0%)	92(39.1%)
Negative	124 (52.8%)	19 (8.1%)	143(60.9%)
Total	216 (91.9%)	19 (8.1%)	235(100.0%)

DISCUSSION

The result of the present study has shown that, although KUB x-ray imaging is less expensive, easily accessible, and has been configured to be an initial diagnostic tool in detecting renal and ureteric calculi, its diagnostic yield lacks in comparison to CT scans. Using X-rays, 39.1% of calculi cases found by CT were revealed, and 52.8% of the cases were missed. This goes further to show the limitation of KUB X-ray in the detection of small or less radiopaque stones, which CT can well note. These results support the existing literature regarding the fact that CT scans continue to be the most preferred diagnostic imaging modality in the diagnosis of urinary stones, attributed to the higher sensitivity and specificity of the modality. X-ray in this study was able to properly detect 92 cases of calculi verified by CT but missed 124 cases. While X-ray did not incorrectly identify any calculi, it also had limited success in ruling out calculi precisely. This underscores the necessity of CT as a more trustworthy diagnostic tool. In accordance with the prior conclusions, based on the previous studies, CT scans demonstrated high diagnostic capability. For example, it has been established in several studies that non-contrast-enhanced CT scan sensitivity ranges between 70%-80% for diagnosing appendicitis or fistula[22, 23]. Thus, it was further preferred for imaging of renal calculi as shown in a study where non-contrast CT showed 82% sensitivity in imaging renal calculi [24]. However, recent research has also focused on the existing use of KUB x-rays in the clinical health setup because they are cheaper [25]. Finally, these observations affirm the fact that CT is still more effective than X-rays. Still, X-rays are useful as initial imaging modalities, especially in situations where access to CT or the patient cannot afford the radiation costs or has other complications. On the other hand, some studies have raised doubts over the general necessity of KUB x-ray imaging, suggesting that instead of the KUB x-ray, the first choice should be either the ultrasound or direct CT image [26]. These dissimilarities may be due to differences in study samples, stone composition, and imaging modalities, underlining the need for location-sensitive differential analyses when selecting diagnostic techniques. Some of the limitations of our study must also be noted. First, due to the convenience sampling technique that was used in this study, the external validity of the results can be questioned. Moreover, the stone composition parameters and prior therapies. The absence of inter-observer reliability assessment regarding the radiologists who analyzed the imaging may also weaken the results. Finally, since the study was cross-sectional in design, no longitudinal comparative efficacy of KUB x-rays with that of CT in clinical practice was established. Future studies should be conducted on large samples from different centers to increase the generalizability of results. Integrating elements of stone composition, patients' pathologies, and sex differences might give additional information about the nature of diagnostic performance. Moreover, the assessment of diagnostic cost and consumption in different types of facilities would be beneficial in addressing policy concerns for comprehending the costutility of diagnostic techniques. Further, the studies of inter-observer reliability and the outcomes of patients depending on the used diagnostic techniques would also enhance the results. These steps would have the overall effect of helping to fine-tune diagnostic algorithms of renal and ureteric calculi with respect to their accuracy, accessibility, and cost implications.

CONCLUSIONS

This research shows that KUB x-ray imaging remains an effective first-line diagnostic tool used for renal and ureteric calculi, nevertheless, CT scans outcompete in terms of sensitivity and specificity by a considerably large margin. The study suggests that although KUB ionized x-ray played a vital role in the urological procedure, especially in the emergency department, other imaging modalities should be incorporated into the laboratory diagnosis of urinary calculi to provide better diagnosis, management and hence patient care.

Authors Contribution

Conceptualization: KU Methodology: TQ, BA Formal analysis: KU, SK Writing review and editing: KU, SK

All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Source of Funding

The author received no financial support for the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

REFERENCES

- [1] Rooney L. The Renal System and Associated Disorders. Fundamentals of Applied Pathophysiology for Paramedics.2024 Mar: 178-98. doi:10.1002/9781394322237.ch9.
- [2] Ahn JS and Harper JD. Acute Kidney Stone Management. A Clinical Guide to Urologic Emergencies.2021Aug: 64-82. doi: 10.1002/97811190 21506.ch4.
- [3] Nasar AA, Ahmad A, Saleem S, Bary A, Sarfraz J, Amjad M et al. Efficacy of IV Paracetamol in Patients with Renal Colic in Emergency Department. Indus Journal of Bioscience Research.2024 Nov; 2(02): 54 1-5. doi: 10.70749/ijbr.v2i02.241.
- [4] Siriwardana SR and Abeysuriya V. Radiological Investigations in Nephrolithiasis and: A Narrative Review. Sri Lanka Journal of Surgery.2023 Dec; 41(03): 51-57. doi: 10.4038/sljs.v41i03.9075.
- [5] Haidary M, Tiwari A, Chouhan AP, Verma A, Singh V. Advancements in Medical Imaging Technology for Investigating Urinary Disease: A Methodological Approach. MISJ-International Journal of Medical Research and Allied Sciences.2024 Jun; 2(02): 72-82.
- [6] Mahamat MA, Diarra A, Kassogué A, Eyongeta D, Valentin V, Allah-Syengar N et al. Renal Colic: Epidemiological, Clinical Etiological and Therapeutic Aspects at the Urology Department of the National Reference General Hospital of N'Djamena (Chad). Open Journal of Urology. 2020 Jan; 10(02): 25. doi: 10.4236/oju.2020.102004.
- [7] Torabi M, Shojaee F, Mirzaee M. Prevalence of Renal Colic in the Emergency Departments: A Multi-Center Study. Hospital Practices and Research.2021 Sep; 6(3): 123-6. doi: 10.34172/hpr.2021.23.
- [8] Alibrahim H, Swed S, Sawaf B, Alkhanafsa M, AlQatati F, Alzughayyar T et al. Kidney Stone Prevalence Among US Population: Updated Estimation from NHANES Data Set. Journal of Urology Open Plus. 2024 Nov; 2(11): e00115. doi: 10.1097/JU9 .000000 0000000217.
- [9] He M, Lin X, Lei M, Xu X, He Z. Risk Factors of Urinary Tract Infection After Ureteral Stenting in Patients with Renal Colic During Pregnancy. Journal of Endourology.2021 Jan; 35(1): 91-6. doi: 10.1089/ end.2020 .0618.
- [10] Siriwardana Sand Piyabani C. Role of Imaging in Renal Infections: A Narrative Review.2023 Dec.doi: 10.20944/preprints202312.1794.v1.
- [11] Nordio OG, Tumanskia NV, Miahkov SO. Radiology of the Urinary System: Manual for the Students of the 3rd Year of Speciality "Medicine". 2024.

- [12] Ellison JS and Thakrar P. The Role of Imaging in the Management of Stone Disease. In Diagnosis and Management of Pediatric Nephrolithiasis. Cham: Springer International Publishing. 2022 Aug; 117-142. doi: 10.1007/978-3-031-07594-0_8.
- [13] Farhan MU, Anees SH, Aftab MA, Zia KH, Qayum AB. Utilization of Non-Contrast Enhanced CT KUB in Patients with Suspected Renal Colic. Pakistan Journal of Medical Health Sciences.2021; 15(12): 3737-40. doi: 10.53350/pjmhs2115123737.
- [14] Fard AM and Fard MM. Evaluation of Office Stones in Kidney Patients and How to Form and Treat Them. Eurasian Journal of Science Technology. 2021; 2(2): 384-98.
- [15] Papatsoris A, Alba AB, Galán Llopis JA, Musafer MA, Alameedee M, Ather H et al. Management of Urinary Stones: State of the Art and Future Perspectives by Experts in Stone Disease. Italian Archive of Urology, Andrology: Official Organ of the Italian Society of Urological and Nephrological Ultrasound.2024 Jun; 96(2): 12703. doi: 10.4081/aiua.2024.12703.
- [16] Abdulrasheed H, Adenipekun A, Mohsin MS, Khattak MA, Elsayed W, Cheema H et al. Audit of the Acute Management of Renal Colic in District Hospitals within A National Health Service Trust. Cureus.2024 Sep; 16(9): e69825. doi: 10.7759/cureus.69825.
- [17] Peracha J and Sinha S. Clinical Assessment of Renal Disease and Identification of Kidney Disease in the Community. Medicine. 2023 Feb; 51(2): 89-97. doi: 10.1016/j.mpmed.2022.11.008.
- [18] Kumahor EK. The Biochemical Basis of Renal Diseases. In Current Trends in the Diagnosis and Management of Metabolic Disorders. 2024: 185-200. doi: 10.1201/9781003384823-11.
- [19] Yang K, Shang Y, Yang N, Pan S, Jin J, He Q. Application of Nanoparticles in the Diagnosis and Treatment of Chronic Kidney Disease. Frontiers in Medicine.2023 Apr; 10: 1132355. doi: 10.3389/fmed. 2023.1132355.
- [20] Jan Jr BR, Martin CH, Michaela MI, Jan Sr BR, Zuzana ZI. Overview of Urological Complications Before, During and After Kidney Transplantation. Bratislava Medical Journal/Bratislavské Lekárske Listy.2022 Aug; 123(8). doi: 10.4149/BLL_2022_089.
- [21] Rizvi SF-u-H, Mustafa G, Kundi A, Khan MA. Prevalence of Congenital Heart Disease in Rural Communities of Pakistan. Journal of Ayub Medical College Abbottabad. 2015; 27(1): 124-7.
- [22] Eurboonyanun K, Rungwiriyawanich P, Chamadol N, Promsorn J, Eurboonyanun C, Srimunta P. Accuracy of Nonenhanced CT vs Contrast-Enhanced CT for Diagnosis of Acute Appendicitis in Adults. Current

Problems in Diagnostic Radiology. 2021 May; 50(3): 315-20. doi: 10.1067/j.cpradiol.2020.01.010.

- [23] Raza MA, Ghazanfar S, Mahrukh F, Altuf L, Shah L, Tufail M, et al. Diagnostic Accuracy of Non-Contrast Computed Tomography in Identification of Renal Calculi in Suspected Patients with Negative Intravenous Pyelogram. Journal of Health and Rehabilitation Research.2024 May; 4(2): 1078-82. doi : 10.61919/jhrr.v4i2.882.
- [24] Desai V, Cox M, Deshmukh S, Roth CG. Contrast-Enhanced or Noncontrast CT for Renal Colic: Utilizing Urinalysis and Patient History of Urolithiasis to Decide. Emergency Radiology. 2018 Oct; 25: 455-60. doi: 10.1007/s10140-018-1604-0.
- [25] Yang B, Suhail N, Marais J, Brewin J. Do Low Dose CT-KUBs Really Expose Patients to More Radiation than Plain Abdominal Radiographs? Urologia Journal. 2021 Nov; 88(4): 362-8. doi: 10.1177/039 156032 1994 443.
- [26] Ashraf H, Saulat S, uddin Qadri SS, Amin D, Ayub A, Ejaz M. All That Glitter is not Gold: Computed Tomography-Kidney Ureter Bladder (CT-KUB) is Not Necessary for a Safe Percutaneous Nephrolithotomy.Pakisan Journal of Medicine and Dentistry. 2022; 11(2): 36-43. doi: 10.36283/pjmd11-2/007.



PAKISTAN BIOMEDICAL JOURNAL

https://www.pakistanbmj.com/journal/index.php/pbmj/index ISSN(E): 2709-2798, (P): 2709-278X Volume 8, Issue 01 (January 2025)



Original Article

Language Difficulties and Challenges Faced by Students in Understanding the English Curriculum at PNS LUMHS

Iqra^{*}, Husan Bano Channar¹, Shehneela Khowaja¹, Abdul Hameed Bhacho¹, Rubina Dean¹ and Mansoor-UI-Haq¹

¹Peoples Nursing School, Liaquat University of Medical and Health Science, Jamshoro, Pakistan

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords:

Challenges, Vocabulary, Curriculum, English Medium

How to Cite:

lqra, ., Channar, H. B., Khowaja, S., Bhacho, A. H., Dean, R., & Haq, M. U. (2025). Language Difficulties and Challenges Faced by Students in Understanding the English Curriculum at PNS LUMHS: Difficulties and Challenges in Understanding English Curriculum. Pakistan BioMedical Journal, 8(1), 23-28. https:// doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i1.1160

*Corresponding Author:

lqra

Peoples Nursing School, Liaquat University of Medical and Health Science, Jamshoro, Pakistan igul3614@gmail.com

Received date: 12th November, 2024 Revised date: 19th January, 2025 Acceptance date: 22nd January, 2025 Published date: 31st January, 2025

ABSTRACT

The English language is spoken all over the world nowadays. It is issued in various socioeconomic settings such as tourism, travelling, business, commerce, communication, teaching, learning, international diplomacy, science and technology. Objectives: To describe the challenges that students experience because of the curriculum in English. To investigate how these challenges are overcome by students in their academic years, and to explore which strategies are used by students to overcome challenges faced because of the curriculum in English. Methods: A cross-sectional study was carried out at Peoples Nursing School, Liaquat University of Medical and Health Science, Jamshoro, to evaluate language difficulties and challenges faced by students in understanding the English curriculum at Peoples Nursing School, Liaguat University of Medical and Health Science. Results: According to this study, nearly 41% of students face difficulties when communicating in English. 41% of students have difficulty in grammar. The major problem faced by participants is that 57% of students feel shy, and because of that students don't communicate well in English. 53% of participants don't speak English or read in English because of shyness and 51% of participants haven't enough confidence to read in English in front of people. Conclusions: It was concluded that participants have major problems in English speaking because of again lack of confidence, shyness, lack of vocabulary, lack of fluency, and sentence-making problems.

INTRODUCTION

Learning English has become a dire need of students in different countries of the world especially where the medium of instruction in education settings is English [1]. The English language is spoken all over the world nowadays. It is issued in various socio-economic settings such as tourism, travelling, business, commerce, communication, teaching, learning, international diplomacy, science, and technology. English is a mandatory subject that is being taught from primary to university level in Pakistan [2]. English occupies a desirable and valued place as the international language, English is used as the principal means of communication all over the world. In addition, it is used for diplomatic, commercial, educational, engineering, legal, and medical purposes [3]. English is the communication medium in most schools, colleges, and universities, especially for studying overseas. In Pakistan English is not the native language that's why most students face difficulties in higher education academic years, especially students from remote areas. It is observed that students have clear concepts but they do not have enough English language skills like poor grammar skills, and lack of vocabulary, because of that students don't correctly answer the questions in exams and ultimately it affects their education and their grades [4]. It aims to know how students cope with this situation where the whole curriculum is in English. English is a medium of instruction, and students must attempt exams in English medium. It is a very important aspect to know how university students face challenges during their academic years because of the curriculum in English medium. At the same time, they have poor English proficiency. Although in 12 years of education, students study English they do not master's in English. Students didn't properly study the language. Mostly students get the language as a text and read about it but they are not driven to take part in daily life situations. This study aims to present the language difficulties of students by exploring the language-related trials that students face at Peoples Nursing School, Liaquat University of Medical & Health Science, Jamshoro. To distinguish the English medium instruction linguistic challenges in these four aspects of English academic skills like reading, writing, communication and listening. In the twenty-first century, English medium instruction (EMI) has appeared as a dominant educational phenomenon in the world. English is widely used to teach science subjects. English-as-a-second-language learners studying science in English are increasing because learning an additional language demands effort. EMI is defined as 'the use of the

English language to explain academic subjects in a country where English is not the first language of the common population [5-7]. It is a renowned fact that learning academic content through a second/foreign language will bring many encounters where English is not the native language [8]. It is very crucial to understand first the language-related challenges that students face while learning via English to reduce the challenges of students. It is impossible to complete tasks and pass exams of university, without a grasp on these important aspects like reading writing communication and understanding. In higher education accomplished learning uniquely depends on the skill of reading and writing. Academic reading is challenging because it is longer than general reading, complicated paragraphs, and contains multifaceted sentences and challenging vocabulary [9]. This study explores challenges faced by students because of the curriculum in English. Most of the students come from non-English speaking backgrounds, they come from remote areas, and their level of English is below, in higher education medium of instruction is English, which is why they face many challenges in their academic years.

This study aims to identify challenges, and implementation of strategies to improve English language proficiency are also helpful for students, to improve lacking.

METHODS

A cross-sectional study was carried out after obtaining ethical approval from Peoples Nursing School (PSN) Liaguat University of Medical and Health Science (LUMHS), Jamshoro, to evaluate language difficulties and challenges faced by students in understanding the English curriculum at PNS LUMHS. This study was done from December 2023 to March 2024. The sample for the study was calculated

using Rao software, chosen from Students of Bachelor of Science in Nursing (BSN) Generic first, second, third and fourth year, based on their availability and willingness to participate, unwilling participants were excluded, using simple random sampling. A self-constructed, structured questionnaire assessed research participants about language difficulties and challenges faced by students in understanding the English curriculum. The pre-structured questionnaire was divided into six sections. The first component included sociodemographic data of the research participants, like age, gender, and occupation. Section numbers 2, 3, 4 and 5 consist of open-ended questions and the last part of the questionnaire consists of descriptive questions. Section two consists of 09 questions regarding difficulties in communication in the English language, section three consists of 6 questions regarding understanding, section four consists of three questions regarding writing difficulties, fifth section consists of five questions regarding reading difficulties faced by students of BSN Generic. The last part of the questionnaire consisted of open-ended descriptive questions regarding strategies used by students to solve these difficulties. Informed consent was signed by every research participant. The identity of the research participants was kept confidential. Data were checked for uniformity and accuracy before being entered into a system and kept in Excel datasheets. For data analysis, SPSS version 22.0 (SPSS) was utilized.

RESULTS

Data gathered in this research revealed that students have challenges in communication, writing, reading and understanding, these categories are assessed by asking different questions through a self-constructed questionnaire. This study also focuses on strategies used by students to overcome challenges they faced because of the curriculum in English and English Medium Instruction (EMI). Participants respond through both open and closeended guestions. Responses of Communication, writing, reading and understanding, were measured through percentages and frequencies separately and represented in the form of tables, which are given below with descriptions. The result shows that they have difficulties in vocabulary, reading, communication and understanding, these challenges affect their GPA. Result of descriptive questions shows that respondents have major problems in speaking because of lack of confidence, shyness, lack of vocabulary and fear of making mistakes in front of people. The major findings of the study were that participants had major problems in vocabulary, speaking, reading, and lack of confidence while communicating due to lack of English proficiency. Ultimately, because of deficient English

DOI: https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i1.1160

proficiency, students face many challenges during their academic years, affecting their GPA. This pie chart shows the percentages of participants from all years of BSN Generic students, 24% participants from the first year, 25% students from the second year, 27% students from 3rd and 24% participants from 4th year BSN Generic (Figure 1).



■ First Year ■ Second Year □ Third Year ■ Forth Year Figure 1: Percentage of Selected Participants from All Batches of BSN Generic

In this study participants belong to five different backgrounds, (59.00%) were Sindhi in this study, 17.0%. Contributors were Urdu speaking, 14.00% of the participant's mother tongue was Pashto, 4.00% were Punjabi speaking and 6.00% of the participant's mother tongue was Balochi in the study. 52.00% of participants were female and 48% of participants were male, in this study(Figure 2).



Figure 2: Mother Tongue Categories of Selected Students from Four Batches of BSN Generic

A total of 100 students of BSN Generic. The majority of the participants were female (52.0%), and male (48.0%)(Figure 3).



Figure 3: Percentage of Selected Gender from All Batches of BSN Generic

In this study, the first category consisted of 9 questions about communication skills, difficulties and challenges faced by students, this study's outcome showed that 86 % of students like English, and 41% of students had difficulty talking in English. 41% of students had difficulty in grammar. This study's findings showed that students also had a lack of confidence, 57% of students don't communicate in English because of shyness. The major problem faced by participants was that 57% of students face shyness because of that they don't communicate most of the time(Table 1).

Table 1: Challenges Faced in Communication

Questions	Frequency (%)	
Do You Like the English Language	e?	
Yes	86(86.0%)	
No	14(14.0%)	
English Speaking Skill Is Difficult For	You?	
Yes	41(41.0%)	
No	59(59.0%)	
Can You Speak English with Your Fel	lows?	
Yes	65(65.0%)	
No	34(34.0%)	
You Are Unable to Use English in All Aspects of Life Like		
Conversation in Real Life?		
Yes	40(40.0%)	
No	60(60.0%)	
Do You Express Your Ideas in Correct English During Lectures?		
Yes	55(55.0%)	
No	45(45.0%)	
Pronunciation of Words in English Is Difficult?		
Yes	38(38.0%)	
No	61(61.0%)	

Do You Speak English Accurately/Grammatically Correct?		
Yes	41(41.0%)	
No	59(59.0%)	
Your Society Discourages You for English Language Learning?		
Yes	27(27.0%)	
No	73(73.0%)	
Your Shyness Prevents You from Speaking English and Afraid		
of Mistakes?		
Yes	57(57.0%)	
No	42(42.0%)	

The second part of the questionnaire consists of closeended questions related to difficulties and challenges in understanding faced by students in the curriculum, this study's findings showed that the majority of students had difficulty in vocabulary, and 60% of students had difficulty in understanding specific words. Because of insufficient English proficiency and lack of academic writing skills 50% of students face difficulty in writing and cannot express their concepts completely. Study findings showed that 42% of respondent's grades were affected because of a poor understanding of English(Table 2).

Table 2: Challenges Faced in Understanding

Questions	Frequency (%)	
Do You Have Any Difficulty in Understanding Specific Vocabulary?		
Yes	60(60.0%)	
No	40(40.0%)	
Do You Try to Work Out the Meaning of Diff	icult Words?	
Yes	76(76.0%)	
No	24(24.0%)	
Are You Capable of Making Notes by Yourself?		
Yes	77(77.0%)	
No	23(23.0%)	
Does Your GPA Get Affected Due to the Lack of Understanding English Language?		
Yes	42(42.0%)	
No	58(58.0%)	
Your Understanding of Concept Is Clear, But You Struggle to		
Express Them in Writing Due to Limited English Skills?		
Yes	50(50.0%)	
No	50(50.0%)	

The third part of the questionnaire consists of questions related to difficulties and challenges in understanding faced by students in writing English language (Table 3). **Table 3:** Challenges Faced in Writing

Questions	Frequency (%)	
Do You Feel Difficulty in Understanding Your Lecture Which Is Delivered in English Language?		
Yes	31(31.0%)	
No	68(68.0%)	
Is Writing A Difficult Task for You?		
Yes	33(33.0%)	
No	66(66.0%)	

Can You Summarize and Properly Paraphrase Your Ideas?		
Yes	55(55.0%)	
No	44(44.0%)	

The study's outcome showed that shyness and lack of confidence in participants prevent them from engaging in reading skills. 53% of participants don't speak English or read English because of shyness and 51% participants hadn't enough confidence to read in English in front of people(Table 4).

Table 4: Challenges Faced in Reading

Questions	Frequency (%)	
Do You Find It Difficult to Read and Comprehend English Text?		
Yes	30(30.0%)	
No	69(69.0%)	
Do You Find It Difficult to Read English Text in Front of Bunch of People Because of Lake of Confidence?		
Yes	51(51.0%)	
No	49(49.0%)	
Does It Get Difficult for You to Understand Questions in English?		
Yes	25(25.0%)	
No	72(72.0%)	
Your Society Discourages You for English Language Learning?		
Yes	34(34.0%)	
No	65(65.0%)	
Your Shyness Prevents You from Speaking English and Afraid Of Mistakes?		
Yes	53(53.0%)	
No	47(47.0%)	

The last part of the questionnaire consists of open-ended, descriptive questions. The first question is about the most difficult aspects of the English language, like writing, reading, speaking or understanding. 56% of participants responded that speaking is most difficult due to lack of confidence, and lack of vocabulary, participants also responded that speaking is most difficult because of improper sentence making. Writing issue was the second major problem for participants, 22% of participants responded that writing is a major task for them, because of vocabulary and somehow because of spelling mistakes. This study's results showed reading difficulties are the third number, 18% of participants had difficulties in reading because of inappropriate pronunciation and unawareness of the meaning of difficult words. 5% of contributors had difficulty in understanding (Table 5).

Table 5: Analysis of Descriptive Questions

Difficulties	Percentage	Total
Speaking		
Because of Lack of Confidence	29%	
Because of a Lack of Vocabulary	17%	56%
Because of Grammatical Mistakes/ Sentence Making. 10%		

Writing		
Because of Spelling Mistakes.	10%	220/
Because of Grammatical Mistakes.	12%	22%
Reading		
Because of Pronunciation.	8%	10%
Because of Shyness.	10%	10 /0
Understanding		
Because of Lack of Knowledge	5%	5%

DISCUSSION

This study's results explored, that the major problem was speaking that faced participants and the causes were lack of confidence, lack of practice, fear of committing mistakes, not having an encouraging environment, lack of rich vocabulary, and the inability to use grammatical patterns as the key difficulties. Participants face many challenges while communicating in English. These difficulties inhibit the learners from developing their fluency in speaking English. These findings also relate to the results of the study conducted in Turkey The study's results exposed that speaking English and writing were found to be the most perplexing areas of EMI [10]. Half of the participants responded that their speaking and communication skills were weak because of a lack of confidence and shyness. It was identified by the researchers that some students were encountering several issues with the skills of Speaking and Listening when the research was undertaken. Another major problem divulged in this study's result is lack of vocabulary. Research shows that pupils' short-term memorisation of words reveals their technical memory deficits [11, 12]. Another important factor is academic writing, as 22% of participants' report having trouble with it. A study conducted at the University of China aligns with this study, they reported that students need specific language support, particularly the prolific skills of English writing and speaking. Participants responded that they didn't completely understand the lecture due to a lack of vocabulary, they didn't know the meaning of specific words which is used in the lecture. Eventually, these challenges and difficulties affect their grade point average GPA. Students had difficulty in writing, they made grammatical mistakes, spelling mistakes, don't make proper sentences. In summary, this study's findings are in line with other research on EMI in the literature, which revealed that EMI leads to poor scholastic outcomes in the long run as well as feelings of worry, annoyance, tension, dread, and humiliation. Furthermore, during lectures, EMI denies students their fundamental rights to comprehension, interaction, communication, discussion, and inquiry. Having a strong grasp of English is vital for building a reputable academic profile and accessing top career choices [13-16]. The restrictive and dominating nature of

the classroom setting discourages students from actively contributing to the class activities [17]. Based on the results, a lesson plan was developed to conduct sessions for students. After analysis of the results, findings showed that most of the students had difficulties in vocabulary, and a major problem was speaking in English. Lack of vocabulary is directly proportional to speaking in English because if students have enough vocabulary their speaking skills can be improved [18]. According to study findings, other causes of difficulties in speaking skills are lack of confidence, shyness and deprived sentencemaking competencies [19, 20]. Based on the findings, we plan sessions for students on strategies to enhance vocabulary, speaking and reading skills and also on different strategies to boost confidence for communication in English, as it is also the objective of our study to work on strategies and teach effective strategies to participants. So, we conducted a session on it very effectively. In the session we gave a general introduction to the English language and cleared concepts about the importance of English, then we divided students into groups and engaged them in the activity of searching strategies, each group searched at least one effective and useful approach and one homonym, by doing this students actively participate in session, and at last, we also impart them strategies to solve challenges and enhance English proficiency, because in university whole curriculum is in English and recommended medium of instruction is also English. That session was very effective and useful for students, analysed by student's responses.

CONCLUSIONS

It was concluded that the majority of students have problems in vocabulary and the majority of contributors face challenges because of shyness and lack of confidence. Some participants had good writing skills. The major challenge observed from the study's findings is that participants have major problems speaking in English due to a lack of self-reliance, shyness, lack of vocabulary, absence of fluency and sentence-making problems.

Authors Contribution

Conceptualization: I Methodology: I, HBC, SK, RD Formal analysis: SK Writing review and editing: HBC, AHB, MUH

All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Source of Funding

The author received no financial support for the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

REFERENCES

- [1] Ahmed N, Pathan ZH, Khan FS. Exploring the causes of English language speaking anxiety among postgraduate students of the University of Balochistan, Pakistan. International Journal of English Linguistics. 2017 Jan;7(2):99-105.
- [2] Begum S, Baloch SM, Khan SS. The Study to Examine the Difficulties of Students in Learning English as A Second Language in Government High Schools District Jaffarabad, Sohbatpur and Naseerabad. Pakistan Journal of Educational Research. 2023 Jun; 6(2).
- [3] Siddiqui KA, Syed H, Sahito Z. Challenges and strategies of university students in English-medium instruction (EMI) classes: A case study. Foro Educacional. 2021; 36: 9-25. doi: 10.29344/07180772 .36.2544.
- [4] Sudusinghe WS and Gamage CK. The Importance of English Language Proficiency for the Success of Nursing Education in Sri Lanka. South-East Asian Journal of Medical Education. 2023 Oct; 17(1). doi: 10. 4038/seajme.v17i1.529.
- [5] Akef Alsalihi H. Main Difficulties Faced by EFL Students in Language Learning. Journal of the College of Education for Women. 2020; 31: 19-34. doi:10.36231/coedw.v31i2.1359.
- [6] Pun JKH, Fu X, Cheung KKC. Language challenges and coping strategies in English Medium Instruction (EMI) science classrooms: a critical review of literature. Studies in Science Education. 2024; 60(1): 121-52. doi: 10.1080/03057267.2023.2188704.
- [7] Aizawa I, Rose H, Thompson G, Curle S. Beyond the threshold: Exploring English language proficiency, linguistic challenges, and academic language skills of Japanese students in an English medium instruction programme. Language Teaching Research. 2023 Jul; 27(4): 837-61. doi: 10.1177/136216 8820965510.
- [8] Abu-Rabia* S. Teachers' role, learners' gender differences, and FL anxiety among seventh-grade students studying English as a FL. Educational Psychology. 2004 Sep 1;24(5):711-21.
- [9] Soruc A, Altay M, Curle S, Yuksel D. Students' academic language-related challenges in English medium instruction: The role of English proficiency and language gain. System. 2021 Dec; 103: 102651. doi: 10.1016/j.system.2021.102651.

- [10] Anwar IW and Sailuddin SP. Academic reading difficulties in higher education. Journal of Languages and Language Teaching. 2022 Apr; 10(2): 309-14. doi: 10.33394/jollt.v10i2.4849.
- [11] Kamaşak R, Sahan K, Rose H. Academic languagerelated challenges at an English-medium university. Journal of English for Academic Purposes. 2021 Jan; 49: 100945. doi: 10.1016/j.jeap.2020.100945.
- [12] Aaqil AM, Faizer M, Moulana RR. Challenges faced by the undergraduates in enhancing their English language. International Journal of Innovation in Teaching and Learning (IJITL). 2022 Jun; 8(1): 20-32. doi: 10.35993/ijitl.v8i1.2375.
- [13] Shah SH, Abbasi IA, Ali A. Difficulties in learning English vocabulary faced by college students of Pakistan. Pakistan Languages and Humanities Review. 2022 Jun; 6(2): 422-31. doi: 10.47205/plhr.20 22(6-II)36.
- [14] Zhou S, McKinley J, Rose H, Xu X. English medium higher education in China: Challenges and ELT support. ELT Journal. 2022 Apr; 76(2): 261-71. doi: 10. 1093/elt/ccab082.
- [15] Al Zumor AQ. Challenges of using EMI in teaching and learning of university scientific disciplines: Student voice. International Journal of Social Sciences & Educational Studies. 2019; 5(3): 1-7. doi: 10.26858/ijol e.v1i1.7510.
- [16] Aziz AA, Umar M, Dilshad F, Mustafa M. Learning difficulties and strategies of students at higher secondary schools in Punjab. Journal of Policy Research(JPR). 2015; 1(2): 1-7.
- [17] Azher M, Anwar MN, Naz A. An investigation of foreign language classroom anxiety and its relationship with student's achievement. Journal of College Teaching & Learning(TLC). 2010 Nov; 7(11).
- [18] Han H, Islam MH, Ferdiyanto F. An Analysis of Student's Difficulties in English Speaking, a Descriptive Study. Journal of Education and Technology. 2023 Jun; 6(4): 497-503. doi: 10.29062/ edu.v6i4.579.
- [19] Machfudi MI. Students' Difficulties in Vocabulary Mastery. Critical Review of English-Arabic World Journal. 2022 Mar; 1(1): 01-12. doi: 10.35719/crewjournal.v1i1.1359.
- [20] Shah SH, Abbasi IA, Ali A. Difficulties in Learning English Vocabulary Faced by College Students of Pakistan. Pakistan Languages and Humanities Review. 2022 Jun; 6(2): 422-31. doi: 10.47205/plhr.20 22(6-II)36.

lip

PAKISTAN BIOMEDICAL JOURNAL

https://www.pakistanbmj.com/journal/index.php/pbmj/index ISSN(E): 2709-2798, (P): 2709-278X Volume 8, Issue 01 (January 2025)





The Effect of Caffeinated Coffee on Tears Secretion among Young Adults

Ayesha Sajid¹, Abdullah Bilal[°], Sameer Saeed¹, Muhammad Hamza¹ and Isham¹

¹Department of Optometry and Vision Sciences, Superior University, Lahore, Pakistan

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Keywords:

Caffeinated Coffee, Nescafe, Tears Secretion, SchirmerTest

How to Cite:

Sajid, A., Bilal, A., Saeed, S., Hamza, M., & Isham, . (2025). The Effect of Caffeinated Coffee on Tears Secretion among Young Adults: Caffeinated Coffee and Tears Secretion. Pakistan BioMedical Journal, 8(1), 29–32. https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i1.1126

*Corresponding Author:

Abdullah Bilal

Department of Optometry and Vision Sciences, Superior University, Lahore, Pakistan abdullahch.opt@gmail.com

Received date: 3rd September, 2024 Revised date: 9th January, 2025 Acceptance date: 16th January, 2025 Published date: 31st January, 2025 BSIRACI

Caffeine, the most often taken psychoactive stimulant, is said to have contradictory effects on tear film dynamics. Objectives: To determine the effect of caffeinated coffee on tears secretion. Methods: Quasi experimental study was conducted from January 2023 to May 2024 at Superior University Lahore including 86 subjects of ages between 18-35 years by using convenient sampling technique. After visual acuity assessment, tear secretion of participants was checked by using Schirmer test strips. Tears secretion of all the subjects was noted before and after intake of caffeinated coffee by using Schirmer test strips. Descriptive statistics and T test was used for analysis of data by using SPSS version 25.0. Results: Before intake of coffee, 14(16.3%) showed tear secretion in the range of 5-15 mm, 21(24.4%) were in range of 16-25mm while 51(59.3%) were in the range of 26-35mm. Tear secretions after 30 minutes of coffee intake in 23(26.7%) subjects were in the range of 5-15mm, 20(23.3%) were in the range of 16-25mm while 43(50%) were in the range of 26-35mm. Similarly tear secretions after 90 minutes of coffee intake in 35(40.7%) were in the range of 5-15mm, 32(37.2%) were in the range of 16-25mm while 19(22.1%) were in the range of 26-35mm. Tear secretions before and after intake of coffee was found to be statistically significant i.e. p<0.05. Conclusion: A decreasing trend was observed in tear secretion levels at 30 and 90 minutes following the intake of caffeinated coffee and normal prior to coffee consumption.

INTRODUCTION

Caffeine, a colourless, bitter-tasting white alkaloid, is the most widely used stimulant globally. It can be found in coffee, tea, cocoa, yerba mate, guarana, and many other food and drink items. Coffee beans are the main source of caffeine, and even decaffeinated coffee contains some residual caffeine. Caffeine influences the central anxious framework, lifting heart rate, blood weight, and readiness, whereas moreover acting as a bronchodilator and diuretic. Aside from its interaction with adenosine, caffeine has additional physiological effects due to its metabolites, leading to increased production of stomach acid, pepsin, and blood sugar, elevated fatty acid, cortisol, and adrenaline levels, and reduced calcium levels, potentially causing bone loss. Therefore, caffeine intake may exacerbate existing health conditions or contribute to certain diseases. Pregnant ladies and people with tall blood weight, cardiovascular issues, diabetes, open-angle

glaucoma, or insomnia are advised to avoid coffee consumption. However, caffeine can also be utilized beneficially. It is used to treat respiratory issues in newborns and acts as an adjuvant in various medicinal compositions counting analgesics and antipyretics. In its normal shape, natural coffee might offer a few cardioprotective impacts for people without hypertension [1, 2]. Pharmacologically, caffeine acts as an antagonist to adenosine receptors, influencing multiple organ systems. Historically, it was recognized for its therapeutic potential, including treating asthma. Today, caffeine is used medically for conditions such as migraines and newborn apnea, and as an adjunct in pain management. While its effects on circulation and nerves are well-studied, its impact on ocular physiology is less understood, necessitating further research [3]. Coffee's impact on tear production and dry eye conditions remains contentious.

Dry eyes stem from insufficient tear production or unstable tear film, potentially leading to discomfort and vision issues. Severe cases can even cause corneal ulcers and increase susceptibility to infections. Clinical assessments like the Schirmer test and tear film fluorophotometer are used but yield conflicting findings on coffee's effects. Some suggest coffee might increase tear production and protect against dry eyes, while others argue the opposite. To clarify these discrepancies, more research is needed [4]. Dry Eye Disease (DED) is a prevalent chronic condition characterized by disruptions in the tear film and ocular surface, affecting 5% to 50% of adults worldwide. [5] It significantly impairs quality of life, causing discomfort and fatigue, limiting daily activities like driving and reading, and impacting overall well-being and productivity [6]. Medical students, prone to high stress levels, often adopt habits such as increased caffeine consumption and prolonged use of digital devices for academic purposes. On average, adults in Western countries consume 200 to 300 mg of caffeine daily [7, 8]. Caffeine enhances alertness by blocking adenosine A2A receptors, reducing fatigue. Coffee is the primary source of caffeine for most adults, contributing about 80% to their daily intake. Green tea is also popular for its caffeine content, boasts additional health benefits like antioxidants and antimicrobial properties. Despite having higher caffeine levels per dried weight than coffee, green teagenerally does not induce the same arousal effects [9]. Caffeine enhances alertness and reduces daytime sleepiness by blocking adenosine receptors. Research shows it improves cognitive function and attention during sleep deprivation with doses ranging from 200 to 600 mg [10]. Understanding the effects of sustained high caffeine intake on physiology, including blood pressure and decision-making, requires further study, particularly considering habitual caffeine use patterns [11]. Caffeine has been previously demonstrated to impact the eyes in numerous ways such as corneal deformities have been reported to be the result of caffeine intake [12]. Moreover, several studies suggest higher coffee intake may elevate intraocular pressure: potentially increasing glaucoma risk due to caffeine's role as an adenosine receptor antagonist [13, 14]. On the contrary, the protective roles of caffeine are also highlighted by several studies. Caffeine's impact on choroidal thickness and visual performance, including pupil size and accommodation, remains unclear and may affect reading speed and visual quality, especially in those with vision challenges [16]. Conflicting research on caffeine's effects on tear production further complicates its influence on visual performance.

This study aimed to determine the effect of caffeinated coffee on tears secretion.

$\mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{T} \to \mathbf{O} \to \mathbf{S}$

A quasi-experimental study was conducted at Superior University Lahore to investigate the effect of coffee on tear secretion. The study was conducted between January 2023 to May 2023. Participants were recruited using a nonprobability convenient sampling method and included 86 staff and students aged 18-35 years with normal vision (6/6 acuity). Sample size was calculated using online sample size calculation software. Smokers, alcohol consumers, elderly patients, pregnant women, and those with ocular or systemic diseases were excluded. Written and verbal consent was taken from the participants before the data collection. All the measurements regarding tear secretion measurement were made during early hours of the university timing in a controlled temperature environment. Tear secretion was assessed using Schirmer test strips to evaluate changes in tear production levels. Measurements were taken at three intervals: prior to coffee consumption, 30 minutes after intake, and 90 minutes after intake. The coffee preparation involved dissolving 4 grams of Nescafe granules in 150 ml of warm water to ensure consistency in the caffeine dose provided to all participants. All the data collected were analyzed using SPSS Version 25.0. Descriptive statistics and t-test were used to obtain results.

RESULTS

Out of total 86(100%) subjects, 72(83.7%) were in age group of 18-25 years, 11(12.8%) subjects were in age group of 26-35 years and 3(3.5%) were in age group of 31-35 years and frequency of male was 31(36%) and for female 55(64%). Out of total 86(100%) subjects, before intake of coffee, 14(16.3%) subjects were having tear secretion in the range of 5-15mm, 21(24.4%) subjects were having tear secretion in the range of 16-25mm while 51(59.3%) were having the tear secretion in the range of 26-35mm.

Table 1: Tear Secretion before Intake of Coffee

Tear Secretion	Frequency (%)
5-15mm	14 (16.3 %)
16-25mm	21(24.4%)
26-35mm	51(59.3%)
Total	86 (100.0%)

After 30 minutes of coffee intake, out of total 86(100%) subjects, tear secretion in 23(26.7%) subjects were in the range of 5-15mm, 20(23.3%) subjects were having tear secretion in the range of 16-25mm while for 43(50%) were having the tear secretion in the range of 26-35mm.

Table 2: Tear Secretion after 30 Minutes of Intake of Coffee

Tear Secretion	Frequency (%)
5-15mm	23 (26.7%)

Sajid A et al.,

16-25mm	20(23.3%)
26-35mm	43(50.0%)
Total	86(100.0%)

After 90 minutes of coffee intake, out of total 86(100%) subjects, tear secretion in 35(40.7%) subjects were in the range of 5-15mm, 32(37.2%) subjects were having tear secretion in the range of 16-25mm while for 19(22.1%) were having the tear secretion in the range of 26-35mm.

Table 3: Tear Secretion after 90 Minutes of Intake of Coffee

Tear Secretion	Frequency (%)
5-15mm	35(40.7%)
16-25mm	32(37.2%)
26-35mm	19 (22.1%)
Total	86(100.0%)

The mean of tear secretion before intake of coffee was 2.43 ± 0.760 and after 30 minutes coffee intake mean value was $2.23 \text{ mm} \pm 0.850$. After 90 minutes of intake of coffee mean value was $1.81 \text{ mm} \pm 0.775$. The results indicate a significant decrease in tear secretion after coffee consumption. The average tear production decreased from 2.43 mm before coffee intake to 1.81 mm after 90 minutes, suggesting a consistent effect of coffee on tear reduction. The standard deviation remained relatively consistent, indicating that the effect was uniform across the study participants.

Table 4: Comparison of tear secretion before and after coffee

 intake among study participants

Tear Secretion	Number of Participants	Mean ± SD	p-Value
Tear Secretion Before Intake of Coffee	86	2.43 ± 0.760	p<0.05
Tear Secretion After 30 Minutes of Intake of Coffee	86	2.23 ± 0.850	p<0.05
Tear Secretion After 90 Minutes of Intake of Coffee	86	1.81 ± 0.775	p<0.05

DISCUSSION

Caffeine is a naturally occurring stimulant found in various plants, including coffee beans, tea leaves, cocoa beans, and kola nuts. The results of the present study showed that the mean tear secretion before intake of coffee was $2.43 \pm$ 0.760 while tear secretions after 30 minutes and 90 minutes of coffee intake was 2.23 ± 0.850 and 1.81 ± 0.775 respectively. This shows reduction in tear secretion values after the consumption of caffeinated coffee. The results of this study are in accord with the study where the recorded values for tear secretions were lower after caffeine intake, implying that caffeine may limit tear secretion in certain groups of individuals [17]. However, contradictory results were reported in a study that found a significant increase in Schirmer 1 scores; therefore, caffeine stimulated tear secretion in healthy people without a dry eye [18]. The variation in outcomes may be due to differences in caffeinated products used in various studies, caffeine

content in the products tested, and disparity in participants' characteristics to give credence to the extent of complexity of effects of caffeine on tear film. However, the current study specifically only investigated the shortterm effects of coffee consumption, and, therefore, differences due to stress, usage of electronic devices, and metabolism differ in everybody. A systematic review of two population-based studies showed that increased caffeine consumption is very slightly linked to dry eyes [19] and that the frequency increases with caffeine consumption, especially among female [17]. The patterns of variations here noted could have been attributable to hormonal effects on tearing, although these aspects in the present research were not evaluated. Remarkably, data also showed that instances of caffeine use were again associated with healthier ocular surface and reduced tearing inflammation, thus proposing an anti-inflammatory function profile for caffeine that requires further exploration [20]. Further longitudinal research on a broad population is necessary on factors such as sleep and usage of electronics to have a better understanding of these dynamics.

CONCLUSIONS

This study demonstrated a significant decrease in tear production after the consumption of caffeinated coffee in young adults. The findings suggest a potential link between dry eye symptoms and caffeine intake. Further longitudinal studies are recommended to investigate the underlying mechanisms and to evaluate whether individuals with dry eye symptoms might benefit from reducing caffeinated coffee intake or opting for decaffeinated alternatives.

Authors Contribution

Conceptualization: AB Methodology: SS Formal analysis: MH, I Writing review and editing: AS, I

All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Source of Funding

The author received no financial support for the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

REFERENCES

- Wawan AH. Moderate Coffee Consumption and Cardiovascular Health. Research Horizon. 2024 Dec; 4(5): 225-32.
- [2] Viana JW, Torres RP, Bezerra TF, Nobre FW. Beneficial and Adverse Effects of Caffeine

Consumption on Human Body: A Comprehensive Review. InterSciencePlace. 2021Oct; 16(2).

- Yoon JJ and Danesh-Meyer HV. Caffeine and the Eye. Survey of Ophthalmology. 2019 May; 64(3): 334-344. doi: 10.1016/j.survophthal.2018.10.005.
- [4] Osei KA, Ovenseri-Ogbomo G, Kyei S, Ntodie M. The Effect of Caffeine on Tear Secretion. Optometry and Vision Science. 2014 Feb; 91(2): 171-177. doi: 10.1097/ OPX.00000000000129.
- [5] Song P, Xia W, Wang M, Chang X, Wang J, Jin S, et al. Variations of Dry Eye Disease Prevalence by Age, Sex and Geographic Characteristics in China: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Journal of Global Health. 2018 Dec; 8(2). doi: 10.7189/jogh.08.02 0503.
- [6] Guo LW and Akpek E. The Negative Effects of Dry Eye Disease on Quality of Life and Visual Function. Turkish Journal of Medical Sciences. 2020; 50(10): 1611-5. doi: 10.3906/sag-2002-143.
- [7] Saadeh R. Caffeinated-Beverages Consumption Habits and Use Among Medical Students in North Jordan.Jordan MedicalJournal. 2019 Mar; 53(1).
- [8] de Paula Lima J and Farah A. Coffee: Consumption and Health Implications. London: Royal Society of London; 2019. Chapter 14, Caffeine Consumption; 313-339. doi: 10.1039/9781788015028-00313.
- [9] Roizenblatt M, Gehlbach PL, da Silveira Saraiva V, Nakanami MH, da Cruz Noia L, Watanabe SE, et al. Weight-Adjusted Caffeine and β-Blocker Use in Novice Versus Senior Retina Surgeons: A Self-Controlled Study of Simulated Performance. Eye. 2023 Oct; 37(14): 2909-14. doi: 10.1038/s41433-023-02429-8.
- [10] Dong X, Li S, Sun J, Li Y, Zhang D. Association of Coffee, Decaffeinated Coffee and Caffeine Intake From Coffee With Cognitive Performance in Older Adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2011-2014. Nutrients. 2020 Mar; 12(3): 840. doi: 10.3390/nu12030840.
- [11] Sargent A, Watson J, Topoglu Y, Ye H, Suri R, Ayaz H. Impact of Tea and Coffee Consumption on Cognitive Performance: An fNIRS and EDA Study. Applied Sciences. 2020 Apr; 10(7): 2390. doi: 10.3390/app100 72390.
- [12] Jiménez R, Molina R, Redondo B, Vera J. Effects of Caffeine Intake on The Biomechanical Properties of The Cornea: A Placebo-Controlled, Double-Blind, Crossover Pilot Study in Low Caffeine Consumers. Graefe's Archive for Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology. 2020 Nov; 258: 2449-58. doi: 10.1007/s00417-020-04835-0

- [13] Sharathbiddappa Bd, Prabhu A, Hanumantharaju Kn, Lokesh Ac, Gurikar C. Influence of Caffeinated Drinks on Human Health with Special Emphasis on Eye Pressure. Biochemical and Cellular Archives. 2023 Oct; 23(2). doi: 10.51470/bca.2023.23.2.795.
- [14] Kim J, Aschard H, Kang JH, Lentjes MA, Do R, Wiggs JL, et al. Intraocular Pressure, Glaucoma, and Dietary Caffeine Consumption: A Gene-Diet Interaction Study from the UK Biobank. Ophthalmology. 2021 Jun; 128(6): 866-76. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2020.12.0 09.
- [15] Kronschläger M and Ruiss M. Coffee, Caffeine, And Delaying of Cataract Development. Coffee In Health And Disease Prevention. 2025 Jan; 413-421. doi: 10.1 016/B978-0-443-13868-3.00019-3.
- [16] Redondo B, Vera J, Carreño-Rodríguez C, Molina-Romero R, Jiménez R. Acute Effects of Caffeine on Dynamic Accommodative Response and Pupil Size: A Placebo-Controlled, Double-Blind, Balanced Crossover Study. Current Eye Research. 2020 Sep; 45(9): 1074-81. doi: 10.1080/02713683.2020.1725060.
- [17] Singh N and Singh AK. The Association Between Caffeine Consumption and Dry Eye Disease: A Retrospective Cross-Sectional Study. Student's Journal of Health Research Africa. 2024 Sep; 5(9): 6.
- [18] Murari S, Ho A, Hayes J, Cooper S. Effects of Caffeine Intake on Visual Performance of the Eye Among Normal Healthy Adults. College of Optometry. 2018 May; 842.
- [19] Abu-Ismail L, Abuawwad MT, Taha MJ, Khamees AA, Abu Ismail DY, Sanwar M, et al. Prevalence of Dry Eye Disease Among Medical Students and Its Association with Sleep Habits, Use of Electronic Devices and Caffeine Consumption: A Cross-Sectional Questionnaire. Clinical Ophthalmology. 2023 Dec: 1013-23. doi: 10.2147/0PTH.S397022.
- [20] Li YZ, Wang C, Peng X, Wang B, Wang JS, Xie HT, et al. Caffeine's Protective Role in Dry Eye Disease and Meibomian Gland Dysfunction: Insights from Clinical and Experimental Models. International Immunopharmacology. 2025 Jan; 146: 113863. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2024.113863.



PAKISTAN BIOMEDICAL JOURNAL

https://www.pakistanbmj.com/journal/index.php/pbmj/index ISSN(E): 2709-2798,(P): 2709-278X **Volume 8, Issue 01 (January 2025)**



Original Article

Factors Delaying Antenatal Management Leading to Maternal Morbidity: Empirical Evidence from Tertiary Care Hospital KPK

Sabah Safdar^{1*}, Zoopash Inayat¹ and Sheema Safdar²

¹Hayatabad Medical Complex, Peshawar, Pakistan ²Combined Military Hospital, Risalpur, Pakistan

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords:

Antenatal Care, Maternal Morbidity, Factors Frequencies, Health Outcomes

How to Cite:

Safdar, S., Inayat, Z., & Safdar, S. (2025). Factors Delaying Antenatal Management Leading to Maternal Morbidity: Empirical Evidence from Tertiary Care Hospital KPK: Antenatal Management Leading to Maternal Morbidity . Pakistan BioMedical Journal, 8(1), 33-37. https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i1.1182

*Corresponding Author:

Sabah Safdar

Hayatabad Medical Complex, Peshawar, Pakistan sabahsafdar9@gmail.com

Received Date: 17th November, 2024 Revised Date: 16th January, 2025 Acceptance Date: 20th January, 2025 Published Date: 31st January, 2025

ABSTRACT

Antenatal care is a branch of preventive medicine focused on the early detection and prevention of pregnancy disorders. Objective: To determine the frequency of factors responsible for delaying antenatal management leading to maternal morbidity. Methods: This cross-sectional was conducted at Khyber Teaching Hospital. In this study, a total of 151 patients were observed. Before data collection, approval was obtained from the hospital's ethical committee after approval of the synopsis. All the admitted patients (pregnant women) presented to labor room in Khyber Teaching Hospital meeting the inclusion criteria were recruited for the study explaining the objective of the study to every patient. Inform consent was obtained from the patients. Patients were thoroughly examined according to the routine health assessment protocol of the hospital. Data were collected with the help of a Performa attached. Results: The mean age was 30 ± 12.45 years. 67% of patients were from rural areas while 50 (33%) patients were from urban areas. 65 (43%) patients were un-educated, 53 (35%) patients had primary to secondary education and 33 (22%) patients had an education level above secondary. There was a significant association (p-value=0.001) between the distance from the hospital and delays in antenatal care. Conclusions: It was concluded that antenatal care is essential for reducing maternal and fetal mortality, particularly in developing regions where the maternal mortality ratio remains significantly high. This study identifies key barriers to Antenatal care utilization in Pakistan, such as low education levels, poor socioeconomic status, geographical inaccessibility, and systemic healthcare issues.

INTRODUCTION

All pregnant women face the risk of obstetrical complications, with the majority occurring during labor and delivery, potentially resulting in maternal morbidity and mortality. In our context, maternal mortality is significantly underestimated [1]. Antenatal care is a branch of preventive medicine focused on the early detection and prevention of pregnancy disorders [2]. It is considered essential to modern obstetrics. This widely adopted strategy promotes skilled care during childbirth and enhances the health of pregnant women [3]. Antenatal care (ANC) is crucial for preventing both maternal and fetal mortality and morbidity. It serves as a vital strategy to enhance maternal and infant health. This improvement can be assessed by calculating the maternal mortality ratio (MMR), which is defined as "the number of maternal deaths during a specified period per 100,000 live births within the

same timeframe [4]. The global maternal mortality ratio (MMR) stands at 210 per 100,000 live births. Despite global reductions since 1990, the MMR remains 15 times higher in developing regions compared to developed ones [5]. The number of women utilizing antenatal care is low in many areas and needs to be increased to improve overall health outcomes. Several factors can influence the use of antenatal care services, including literacy levels, awareness of the importance of antenatal care, the number of available facilities, distance from these facilities, socioeconomic status, and more [6]. Antenatal care has reduced maternal and perinatal morbidity and mortality. Low levels of antenatal care are associated with higher perinatal mortality rates [7]. During pregnancy, ensuring maternal health through a proper diet is essential for delivering a healthy baby [8]. Maternal morbidity is

reduced in women who maintain a good diet, as complications like pre-eclampsia and premature birth occur less frequently [9]. Infants born to mothers who do not receive prenatal care during pregnancy are over twice as likely to die during infancy compared to infants whose mothers receive prenatal care. This association holds regardless of other factors such as the child's sex, assistance during delivery, birth order, mother's age at childbirth, nutritional status, education level, and household living conditions. Prenatal care significantly reduces the risk of infant mortality, even when considering other potential risk factors [10].

This study aims to determine the frequency of factors responsible for delaying antenatal management leading to maternal morbidity in the tertiary hospital of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa.

METHODS

This cross-sectional was conducted at Khyber Teaching Hospital. A convenient sampling approach was applied for the sample selection. Around 1000 patients visited the study location in the study period, out of these around 50% of the patients have the said problem. So according to Krejcie and Morgan [11], the estimated sample size was 217, but due to homogeneity in the units and inclusion criteria, a maximum of 151 samples was selected. Before data collection, approval was obtained from the hospital's ethical committee after approval of the synopsis (CPSC/REU/OBG-2015-020-6585). All the admitted patients (pregnant women) presented to labor room in Khyber Teaching Hospital meeting the inclusion criteria were recruited for the study explaining the objective of the study to every patient. Information consent was obtained from the patients. Patients were thoroughly examined according to the routine health assessment protocol of the hospital. Data were collected with the help of a Performa attached. The reliability of the questionnaire was tested using Cronbach's alpha, which showed a satisfactory reliability level of 0.86. The significance of the associations between factors was using the chi-square test of association. X2= Σ (oij-eij/eij)²[12].

RESULTS

A total of 151 patients were included in the study and analysis. The mean age was 30 ± 12.45 years. 79 (52%) patients were primi-para, 54 (36%) were multi para and 18(12%) patients were grand multi-para(Table 1).

Age Distribution					
Variables Frequency (%)					
Age					
18-30 Years	103 (68%)				
31-44 Years 48 (32%)					
Total	151 (100%)				

Table 1: Age, Education and Parity Distributions of Patients(151)

Education of the Patients				
Un-Educated 65 (43%)				
Primary to Secondary Educated	53(35%)			
Above Secondary	33(22%)			
Total	151 (100%)			
Parity Distribution				
Primi Para	79(52%)			
Multi Para	54(36%)			
Grand Multi Para	18 (12%)			
Total	151 (100%)			

A residential area of 151 patients was analyzed as 101(67%) patients were from rural areas while 50(33%) patients were from urban areas. 58 (38\%) patients were previously delivered by dai, 60 (40\%) patients were previously delivered by nurses, 33 (22\%) patients were previously delivered by LHW(Table 2).

Table 2: Previously Delivery(n=151)

Previously Delivery	Frequency (%)		
Dai	58(38%)		
Nurses	60(40%)		
Lady Health Workers (LHW)	33(22%)		
Total	151(100%)		

Sixty-five (43%) patients were un-educated, 53 (35%) patients had primary to secondary education and 33 (22%) patients had an education level above secondary. The most common factor delaying the management of antenatal care was low education level as 97 (64%) patients were below middle and 54(36%) patients were above the middle (Table 3).

Table 3: Factors of Delaying in the Management of Antenatal Care

Factors of I	Frequency (%)	
Education Loval	Below Middle	97(64%)
Education Level	Above Middle	54(36%)
Socio-Economic Status	≤ 20,000/ Rs	94(62%)
	>20,000/ Rs	57(38%)
Distance From Hospital	< 20km	63(42%)
	>20km	88(58%)
Health System	Satisfactory	53(35%)
	Non-Satisfactory	98(65%)
Cultural Capatraint	Yes	35(23%)
	No	116 (77%)

85 (56%) patients had a monthly income range of Rs \leq 15,000/-.57(38%) patients had a monthly income range of Rs 15,000 -50,000/- while 9 (6%) patients had a monthly income range of Rs.>50,000/-. Low socio-economic status as 94(62%) patients had monthly income <20,000Rs and 57 (38%) patients had monthly income Rs >20,000. There is a significant association (p-value=0.001) between the distance from the hospital and delays in antenatal care. The data shows that for those who live less than 20 km from the hospital, 63 out of 151 reported delays (23 decided by the

husband, 26 by the mother-in-law, and 14 by self). In contrast, for those living more than 20 km away, 88 out of 151 reported delays (33 decided by the husband, 37 by the mother-in-law, and 18 by self). The p-value of 0.001 indicates that the distance from the hospital significantly impacts the likelihood of delays in receiving antenatal care, with longer distances contributing to more delays. Un satisfactory health system as 98 (65%) patients had an unsatisfactory health system and cultural constraints as 35 (23%) patients had cultural constraints. The p-value of 0.03 suggests that dissatisfaction with the health system contributes to more significant delays in antenatal care (Table 4).

Table 4: Stratification of Factors of Delaying in Management ofAntenatal Care Concerning Decision Makers

Factors p	Husband	Mother in Law	Self	Total	*p- value		
	Below Middle	36	41	20	97		
Education	Above Middle	20	22	12	54	0.9960	
	Total	56	63	32	151]	
Socio-	≤20,000/ Rs	35	39	20	94	94 57 0.9998 151	
Economic	>20,000/ Rs	21	24	12	57		
Status	Total	56	63	32	151		
D	< 20km	23	26	14	63	63 88 0.001	
from Hospital	> 20km	33	37	18	88		
	Total	56	63	32	151		
	Satisfactory	20	22	11	53		
Health System	Non- Satisfactory	36	41	21	98	0.03	
	Total	56	63	32	151		
Cultural Constraint	Yes	13	15	7	35		
	No	43	48	25	116	0.9975	
	Total	56	63	32	151		

DISCUSSION

Antenatal care (ANC) is crucial for preventing both maternal and fetal deaths and complications. It plays a vital role in enhancing maternal and infant health, which can be assessed by calculating the maternal mortality ratio (MMR). Despite global declines since 1990, the maternal mortality ratio (MMR) remains 15 times higher in developing regions compared to developed regions [13]. A woman's lifetime risk of maternal death is significantly influenced by her economic and social environment, the number of pregnancies she has had, and the availability of maternal health services. Women in developing countries often face challenges in maintaining good health, especially if they are poor [14]. The literacy rate among females in Pakistan is one of the lowest in the world at 28%, which keeps them uninformed about reproductive rights and health facilities [15]. In our study, most of the patients (67%) were from urban areas and were uneducated, lacking awareness of

antenatal care. This lack of awareness is one of the primary reasons for maternal deaths. Complications such as a ruptured uterus were less frequent among urban patients because they had access to qualified medical personnel during delivery. In contrast, rural patients faced difficulties finding qualified medical personnel at the time of delivery due to the lack of mismanagement of traditional birth attendants(dais)[16]. There are numerous obstacles to the early initiation and use of antenatal care. Among these, documented organizational barriers include financial challenges, such as the lack of health insurance [17]. Several key factors contributing to delays in the initiation and utilization of antenatal care were identified. The most prevalent factor was a low level of education, with 64% of the patients having an educational attainment below middle school. Low socioeconomic status was also a significant barrier, as evidenced by the fact that 62% of the patients had a monthly income of less than Rs 20,000. These findings are consistent with previous research indicating that educational attainment, socioeconomic status, geographical accessibility, and healthcare system quality are critical determinants of antenatal care utilization [18, 19]. The study also highlighted systemic issues within the healthcare system, with 65% of the patients reporting dissatisfaction with the health system. The association between low educational levels and reduced healthcare utilization is well-documented, suggesting that educational interventions may be an effective strategy to improve antenatal care uptake [20]. Moreover, addressing financial barriers through policy measures such as subsidized healthcare and transportation vouchers could mitigate some of the socioeconomic challenges identified in this study [21]. Our findings on geographical barriers align with studies such as those conducted in rural Mali and Tanzania, which also found that long distances to healthcare facilities significantly reduce access to antenatal care. Furthermore, the dissatisfaction with the healthcare system reported by a majority of the participants indicates a need for systemic improvements. Ensuring better quality of care, reducing waiting times, and enhancing the patientprovider relationship could improve perceptions of the healthcare system and encourage earlier and more consistent use of antenatal services [22]. Geographical barriers also played a crucial role, with 58% of the patients living more than 20 kilometers from the nearest hospital. This long-distance likely contributes to both the financial burden and the time required to access care. Cultural barriers, while less prevalent, still affect a significant minority of patients and should be addressed through culturally sensitive healthcare practices and community engagement initiatives. In the current study, cultural constraints were noted as a barrier by 23% of the patients, underscoring the complex interplay of social factors that influence healthcare utilization. Overall, this study highlights the multifaceted nature of barriers to antenatal care and underscores the importance of comprehensive strategies that address educational, socioeconomic, geographical, systemic, and cultural factors. Future research should focus on intervention studies to evaluate the effectiveness of targeted strategies in overcoming these barriers and improving antenatal care utilization rates.

CONCLUSIONS

It was concluded that antenatal care is essential for reducing maternal and fetal mortality, particularly in developing regions where the maternal mortality ratio is significantly high. This study identifies key barriers to ANC utilization in Pakistan, such as low education levels, poor socioeconomic status, geographical inaccessibility, and systemic healthcare issues.

Authors Contribution

Conceptualization: SS¹ Methodology: SS¹, SS² Formal analysis: SS¹, ZI Writing review and editing: ZI

All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

All the authors declare no conflict of interest.

Source of Funding

The author received no financial support for the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

$\mathsf{R} \to \mathsf{F} \to \mathsf{R} \to$

- [1] Ahn R, Gonzalez GP, Anderson B, Vladutiu CJ, Fowler ER, Manning L. Initiatives to Reduce Maternal Mortality and Severe Maternal Morbidity in the United States: A Narrative Review. Annals of Internal Medicine. 2020 Dec; 173(11_Supplement): S3-10. doi: 10.7326/M19-3258.
- [2] Khatun K, Ara R, Aleem NT, Khan S, Husein S, Alam S et al. Maternal Mortality in Obstetrics and Gynaecology in A Tertiary Care Hospital. Mymensingh Medical Journal. 2015 Jan; 24(1): 103-7.
- [3] Murthy BK, Murthy MB, Prabhu PM. Maternal Mortality in A Tertiary Care Hospital: A 10-Year Review. International Journal of Preventive Medicine.2013 Jan; 4(1): 105.
- [4] Bale JR, Stoll BJ, Lucas AO. Reducing Maternal Mortality and Morbidity. In Improving Birth Outcomes: Meeting the Challenge in the Developing

World 2003. National Academies Press(US). 2023.

- [5] Sajedinejad S, Majdzadeh R, Vedadhir A, Tabatabaei MG, Mohammad K. Maternal Mortality: A Cross-Sectional Study in Global Health. Globalization and Health.2015 Dec; 11: 1-3. doi: 10.1186/s12992-015-00 87-y.
- [6] Aziz Ali S, Aziz Ali S, Feroz A, Saleem S, Fatmai Z, Kadir MM. Factors Affecting the Utilization of Antenatal Care Among Married Women of Reproductive Age in the Rural Thatta, Pakistan: Findings from A Community-Based Case-Control Study. BioMed Central Pregnancy and Childbirth.2020 Dec; 20: 1-2. doi: 10.1186/s12884-020-03009-4.
- [7] WHO G. Beyond the Numbers: Reviewing Maternal Deaths and Complications to Make Pregnancy Safer. 2024.
- [8] Who U. UNFPA, The World Bank. Trends in Maternal Mortality: 1990 to 2010. World Health Organization, UNICEF, UNFPA, and the World Bank. 2012.
- [9] Ngene NC and Moodley J. Preventing Maternal Morbidity and Mortality from Preeclampsia and Eclampsia Particularly in Low-Middle-income Countries. Best Practice and Research Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology.2024 Feb: 102473. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2024.102473.
- [10] Ryan Jr GM, Sweeney PJ, Solola AS. Prenatal Care and Pregnancy Outcome. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology.1980 Aug; 137(8): 876-81. doi: 10.1016 /S0002-9378(16)32826-5.
- [11] Krejcie RV. Determining Sample Size for Research Activities. Educational and Psychological Measurement.1970.doi:10.1177/0013164470030003 08.
- [12] Mukhopadhyay BB. Statistics for Medical Students. Jaypee Brothers Medical Publishers.2007.
- [13] Midhet F, Hanif M, Khalid SN, Khan RS, Ahmad I, Khan SA. Factors Associated with Maternal Health Services Utilization in Pakistan: Evidence from Pakistan Maternal Mortality Survey, 2019. Plos One. 2023 Nov; 18(11): e0294225. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone .0294225.
- [14] Omer S, Zakar R, Zakar MZ, Fischer F. The Influence of Social and Cultural Practices On Maternal Mortality: A Qualitative Study from South Punjab, Pakistan. Reproductive Health.2021 May; 18(1): 97. doi: 10.1186/s 12978-021-01151-6.
- [15] Ataullahjan A. Family Planning in Pakistan: Unraveling the Complexities. 2018.
- [16] Qudsia QA, Akhtar Z, Kamran KH, Khan AH. Woman Health; Uterus Rupture, Its Complications and Management in Teaching Hospital Bannu, Pakistan. Maedica. 2012 Jan; 7(1): 49.

- [17] Penman SV, Beatson RM, Walker EH, Goldfeld S, Molloy CS. Barriers to Accessing and Receiving Antenatal Care: Findings from Interviews with Australian Women Experiencing Disadvantage. Journal of Advanced Nursing.2023 Dec; 79(12): 4672-86. doi: 10.1111/jan.15724.
- [18] Say L and Raine R. A Systematic Review of Inequalities in the Use of Maternal Health Care in Developing Countries: Examining the Scale of the Problem and the Importance of Context. Bulletin of the World Health Organization.2007 Oct; 85(10): 812-9. doi: 10.2471/BLT.06.035659.
- [19] Gage AJ. Barriers to the Utilization of Maternal Health Care in Rural Mali. Social Science and Medicine.2007 Oct;65(8):1666-82.doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.06 .001.
- [20] Yunus R. Theorising Gendered Childhoods and Girls' Schooling: Poverty, Patriarchy and Girls' Education in Urban India. Childhood. 2021 May; 28(2): 279-93. doi: 10.1177/0907568220976784.
- [21] Bhutta ZA, Ali S, Cousens S, Ali TM, Haider BA, Rizvi A et al. Alma-Ata: Rebirth and Revision 6 Interventions to Address Maternal, Newborn, and Child Survival: What Difference Can Have Integrated Primary Health Care Strategies Make? Lancet (London, England).
 2008 Sep; 372(9642): 972-89. doi: 10.1016/S0140-67 36(08)61407-5.
- [22] Kruk ME, Paczkowski M, Mbaruku G, De Pinho H, Galea S. Women's Preferences for Place of Delivery in Rural Tanzania: A Population-Based Discrete Choice Experiment. American Journal of Public Health. 2009 Sep;99(9):1666-72.doi:10.2105/AJPH.2008.14 6209.

Propolis in Muscle Repair **DOI:** https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i1.1181

lip

PAKISTAN BIOMEDICAL JOURNAL

https://www.pakistanbmj.com/journal/index.php/pbmj/index ISSN(E): 2709-2798,(P): 2709-278X Volume 8, Issue 01 (January 2025)

Systematic Review

The Role of Propolis in Muscle Repair: A Systematic Review

Putri Ragil Ayu¹, Sasanthy Kusumaningtyas^{2*} and Dewi Sukmawati³

¹Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia

²Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia

³Department of Histology, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Keywords:

Propolis, Muscle Repair, Antioxidant, Anti-Inflammatory

How to Cite:

Ayu, P. R., Kusumaningtyas, S., & Sukmawati, D. (2025). The Role of Propolis in Muscle Repair: A Systematic Review: Propolis in Muscle Repair. Pakistan BioMedical Journal, 8(1). https://doi.org/ 10.54393/pbmj.v8i1.1181

*Corresponding Author:

Sasanthy Kusumaningtyas Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia sasanthy.kusumaningtyas@ui.ac.id

Received date: 30th November, 2024 Revised date: 15th January, 2025 Acceptance date: 19th January, 2025 Published date: 31st January, 2025 including. antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and beneficial in the metabolic system. Muscle repair is crucial for maintaining muscle function, especially in cases of injury, oxidative stress, and ageing which cause muscle loss and dysfunction. Propolis has emerged as a potential alternative treatment for muscle repair. **Objective:** To investigate the impact of propolis on muscle repair. **Methods:** A systematic literature review was conducted using databases such as PubMed, Google Scholar, Research Gate, and Cochrane Library. The PRISMA guideline was followed for analysis. The approach uses keywords such as propolis, muscle, and skeletal muscle. Articles were selected based on sample characteristics, intervention, and muscle repair parameters. The searched keywords include propolis, muscle, and skeletal muscle. Evaluation parameters included oxidative stress markers, inflammation, molecular mechanisms, muscle capillaries, muscle mass, strength, and function. **Results:** The initial search uncovered 7676 articles, after further screening, it comprised a total of 21 studies that

Propolis a natural substance that comes from bees possesses various medicinal properties

were included in the results. The collected articles summarized the main mechanism of action of propolis in muscle repair, primarily due to its antioxidant, and anti-inflammatory properties, and its effect on glucose metabolism, which influences muscle fatigue, strength, and mass. **Conclusions:** It was concluded that propolis as a bee's natural product, has several advantages in muscle repair due to its multiple mechanisms of action, encompassing antioxidants, anti-inflammatory properties, impact on muscle glucose metabolism, and stimulation angiogenesis.

INTRODUCTION

Muscle damage can result from inflammation caused by stress, trauma, and ageing leading to muscle pain, discomfort, weakness, and impaired function. Skeletal muscles are crucial for mobilization and energy metabolism. Disorders in skeletal muscles can hinder mobility and disrupt energy metabolism. Muscle damage leads to systemic disorders due to important receptors on muscle cells [1]. In addition, muscle damage also causes disorders in the neuromuscular system, causing fatigue and disrupting activities [2]. Diseases that cause muscle damage are numerous and varied. These diseases can originate directly from the muscle or be related to other systems. Some diseases associated with muscle damage are due to metabolic disorders (e.g. diabetes and obesity), hormonal imbalance (e.g. menopause) and nerve damage in sciatic injuries [1, 3]. Approximately 11.4% of diabetics from a population sample in Italy have muscle disorders, conversely, a lack of muscle mass will increase the incidence of type 2 diabetes [4, 5]. Musculoskeletal health problems also occur in 70% of women who experience menopause due to hormonal imbalance, which causes damage to the skeletal muscles [6]. It is not only diseases that cause muscle damage, but excessive activities that induce stress such as training or sports in athletes can also cause muscle damage [7]. In ageing, there is also a condition of muscle weakness and a decrease in quality called sarcopenia [8, 9]. Sarcopenia is also related to other conditions such as menopause, obesity, cardiovascular [9-11] and type 2 diabetes. Muscle repair is influenced by various factors like age, nutrition, physical activity, and overall physical health. Indicators of muscle repair include myoblasts activity, which are muscle progenitor cells that



play a role in muscle cell repair, and the balance of antiinflammatory and pro-inflammatory cell activity [12]. A well-functioning circulatory system and capillary network are essential for efficient muscle repair. Muscle mass and strength are key parameters for assessing muscle improvement. Various methods like medication, exercise, physical therapy, and supplementation are used for muscle repair, with a natural supplement like propolis gaining popularity. Propolis also known as bee glue, is a bee product used to protect bee hives and contains active ingredients with antioxidants and anti-inflammatory properties beneficial for muscle damage [3, 12]. So far the role of propolis in muscle repair works largely through its anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory effects for muscle health. While studies have extensively researched the effects of antioxidants, oxidative stress, and inflammation on repair, few have focused on the direct impacts of propolis on muscle function improvement. Muscle function parameters that are usually assessed are muscle strength and locomotion function [13].

This study aims to investigate the impact of propolis on muscle repair.

METHODS

The study followed the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) guidelines established by Page et al., [14]. The patient/population, intervention, comparison and outcomes (PICO) approach was utilized to conduct various databases, such as PubMed, Google Scholar, Research Gate, and the Cochrane Library to identify relevant English-language publications. All the published articles between 2006 to 2023 were selected to conduct this systematic review. Comprehensive search techniques were employed to identify studies meeting the eligibility criteria, which include experimental studies with muscle repair outcomes, accessible articles, full-text articles published in English, and no limitation of publication year. The initial keyword used was "propolis" followed by additional keywords such as "muscle", "skeletal muscle", "muscle repair", "human", "rodent", "mice" and "rat" using the AND/OR operator. All selected studies were reviewed based on predefined inclusion and exclusion criteria [13]. This research focused on original experimental studies on animal models, cell cultures, or human populations in muscle damage conditions. The study included an intervention involving propolis administration. Articles that did not meet the specified criteria were excluded. Data collected from eligible articles included sample models, intervention details, and muscle improvement parameters, which are indicators of molecular or functional muscle repair progress. The PRISMA process of article selection is depicted. The initial literature search yielded 7676 articles from various search engines. Among these, 53 articles with

duplicate titles were excluded. Upon screening the titles and abstracts, 157 articles were identified for further review. Subsequently, 90 articles were excluded as they did not meet the inclusion criteria or were not closely related to the topic of interest. Out of the remaining 67 articles, 46 were further excluded due to non-English language, incomplete design explanations, or sample and research outcome discrepancies. Finally, 21 articles were included in this literature review based on meeting the desired criteria (Figure 1).



Figure 1: Article Selection Process Following PRISMA Method

RESULTS

The selected articles encompassed research published from 2006 to 2023, involving human subjects, rodents (mice or rats), and in vitro and ex vivo cell cultures. Various interventions were administered to the research subjects to influence muscle conditions, including effects on muscle cells, metabolism, and muscle function. These interventions ranged from systemic interventions like high glucose level, age-related factors, and injury models such as ischemic and nerve injuries impacting muscle function. Additionally, stress induction in muscle was also achieved through exercises, chemokine, and compound induction leading to heightened oxidative stress. These interventions typically resulted in increased inflammation and oxidative stress in the muscles. Infection, congenital conditions, and genetic engineering related to muscle damage were excluded from this study. The results of 21 articles related to human subjects were summarized in Table 1.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i1.1181

Table 1: The Role of Propolis Intervention in Studies

References	Sample/Population	Sample Induction	Propolis Intervention	Muscle Repair Parameter		
Human Subjected						
[15]	Adult Men	Practice 3 Sessions/Week, for 30 Days	Propolis 70 mg/day for 30 Days	Reduce Pain Caused by Intense Exercise Decreases Inflammatory Activity		
[16]	Men Military Cadets	The Cooper Test (12 Minutes of Running and Sprinting Based On Anaerobic Test Results)	Single Dose of 450 mg Propolis, 2 Times/Day for 4 Weeks	Reduces Oxidative Stress Index Increases Antioxidant Activity Reduces Pro-Inflammatory Activity. No Significant Impact On Fatigue Index		
[17]	Young Adult Male	100 Repetitions of Maximum Concentric Knee Joint Extension Voluntarily to Induce Muscle Fatigue.	Brazilian Propolis (BP) Supplement:787.5 mg (1 st Period)100 mg in (2 nd Period),1 Week Each Period.	A Decrease in Voluntary Maximal Torque Contraction Occurred Immediately After theTask and Recovery 2 Minutes After. Reducing Central Fatigue.		
[18]	Elderly Women	Ageing Due to Old Age	BP 227 mg, Twice Daily for 12 Weeks	No Significant Impact On Grip Strength or Knee Extension. Increase SOD Activity.		
[19]	Women with Type 2 Diabetes (T2D) and Dyslipidemia	Sports Training 3 Sessions/Week For 8 Weeks	Propolis 500 mg, 3 Times/Day for 8 Weeks	Increases Antioxidant Effects Through Increasing Malondialdehyde (MDA), Superoxide Dismutase (SOD), and TAC.Reducing Pro-Inflammatory Activity (IL-6) Through Upregulating CRTP-12 and SFRP5.		
		Animal Subje	cts and in Vitro			
[20]	Male DDY strain mice	Edema On Hind Foot with Carrageenin Injection	Propolis 1:1000 and 1:100 Orally	Inhibition of L-arginine, A Substrate of NOS Plays a Role in the Inflammatory Response.Anti-inflammatory Effects Via Inhibition of NO Production.		
[21]	Male Wistar Strain Rats	Hind Legs Ischemia (Artery Clamp)	CAPE 10µmol/kg, 60 Minutes Intra-peritoneally Before Reperfusion Occurs	Decreased levels of MDA and NO. Increased SOD Activity.		
[22]	L6-mouse myoblasts	-	CAPE 10µM	Increasing Glucose Uptake Via the AMPK Pathway and Activates the AKT Pathway in Myoblast Cells.		
[23]	Male Wistar Strain Rats	Hind Legs Ischemia (Torniquet Application)	CAPE 10µmol/kg, 30 Minutes Before Reperfusion Occurs	Histological Damage Scores, Muscle Edema Percentage, Tissue MDA Content, Apoptosis Index, andNeutrophil Infiltration and Interspaces Decreased.		
[24]	Female Wistar Strain Rats	Spinal Cord Injury	PEE China 0.2; 1 or 5 mg/kg, once a day for 3 weeks	Locomotion improvements seen on the Basso, Beattie, and Bresnahan (BBB) scale.		
[25]	Female Wistar Strain Rats	Treadmill 16 m/minute Up to 90 Minutes/Day with Breaks	CAPE 5 mg/kg or 10 mg/kg for 5 Days	Reducing the Formation of MDA and MPO. Decreased Inflammation Via NFκB Pathway, By Reducing Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX2), Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase (iNOS), Interleukin-1β (IL-1β), and Monocyte Chemotactic Protein-1 (MCP-1) Expression.		
[26]	Male SD Rats	Treadmill for 60 Minutes, 5 Times/Week, for 6 Weeks	Propolis 50mg/kg WB/day, Parallel with Exercise	Increases Glycogen Use in Muscles. Increases the Antioxidant Activity of SOD, Glutathione Peroxidase (GPX), and Catalase (CAT) with MDA Declines		
[27]	Female Wistar Rat	Sciatic nerve injury	Propolis 200 mg/kg BW	Improvement in Walking Function		

Propolis in Muscle Repair

DOI: https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i1.1181

[28]	C2C12 and RAW264 Cells	Induction of Ik-B (IKK) Inhibitor BMS-345541, to NF-Kb Activation	PEE Brazilian 100 µg/ml	Promote Myoblasts to Secrete Cytokines and Chemokines for Muscle Remodeling.Increases RAW264 Migration Which Stimulates the Production of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF-A) and MMP-12
[29]	Male C57BL/6 Mice	High-Fat Diet	Propolis 0.2% in Diet for 2 and 5 Weeks	Downregulates TLR4 (Toll-Like Receptor) Pathway Reduces Inflammatory Cytokines Expression
[30]	Male Wistar Rats	Hind Limbs Unloading	BP 500 Mg/Kg, 2 Times/Day at 6-Hour Intervals, for 2 Weeks	Stimulating Pro-Angiogenic Factors and Suppressing Anti-Angiogenic Factors to Prevent Capillary RegressionIncreasing Ratio Capillaries to Muscle Fibers, Volume, and Diameter Capillary Antioxidant Activity (Suppress P53 and SOD-1)
[31]	Male C57BL/6NCr Mice	Methylglyoxal (MGO) to increase AGEs	BP 0.1% in the Diet for 20 Weeks	Increase Muscle Mass. Decrease Accumulation of MGO, and Increase Glyoxalase Activity. Reduces Pro-inflammatory Responses.
[12]	C2C12 Cells	H_2O_2 Induction	PEEB 1, 3, and 10 µg/ml	Increased HO-1 Expression. Prevents ROS Production and Myoblast Cell Death Increases Cell Viability.
[32]	Male SD Rats	Sciatic Nerve Damage	Propolis-gum Arabic Nerve Guidance Channel	Increased SFI Score Related to Muscle Function.Increasing the Weight and Diameter of Muscle Fibers
[3]	Male Mice	Homozygous Diabetes	BP 0.08%, 0.4%, and 2% w/w in Feed, for 8 Weeks	Increased Grip Strength and Weight Muscles.Reduces the Expression of Genes That Play a Role in the Formation of Atrophy and Inflammation in Muscles.Increase Amino Acid and Inhibit Mitochondria Dysfunction.
[33]	Mouse C2C12 Cells	D Galactose (D-Gal) Induction	Propolis Ethanolic Extract Brazilian (PEEB) 0.1, 5, and 25 µg/ml for 48 Hours	Increase the Viability of C2C12 Senescent Cells.Reduces the Number of Senescence-Associated Beta-Galactosidase-Positive Cells. Stimulates C2C12 Cell Differentiation. Increase the Activation of Nuclear Factor Erythroid 2-Related Factor 2 (Nrf2)/ Heme-Oxygenase -1(HO-1) Signals to Maintain Cell Differentiation Ability Inhibit Cell Apoptosis.

Propolis also contributes to glucose and muscle metabolism. Propolis suppress blood sugar increase by stimulates GLUT4 translocation through PI3K and adenosine 5'-monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) signaling [1, 18]. Propolis prevent obesity-induced sarcopenia by enhancing mitochondrial efficiency within skeletal muscle tissue also via AMPK activation propolis-induced fat loss [3, 18]. When administrated for 20 weeks in feed in conjunction with magnesium oxide (MGO), propolis inhibits the formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs)[32], thus alleviating muscle fatigue [17]. Propolis contain Artepillin C, a bioactive mono-phenol which has been found to decrease muscle fatigue in both skeletal and heart muscle by removing Reactive Organic Species (ROS) from the mitochondria, though the full mechanism remains unclear [17]. The anti-inflammatory benefit of propolis is also observed. Propolis administration suppresses the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines mRNAs, specifically affecting IL-1, IL-6 and the ratio of IL-6 to IL-10[15, 19]. Propolis increases the concentration of C1q/TNF-related Protein-12 (CTRP-12) and excreted frizzled-related proteins (SFRP15) as anti-inflammation agents [19]. Consumption of propolis has been shown to decrease the level of circulating lipopolysaccharide (LPS), the activation of the Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR-4) pathway, and the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the muscle tissues of mice fed a high-fat diet [29]. Research in Deutschland, Denken, and Yoken (DDY) mice has demonstrated

that propolis can decrease inflammation by blocking the production of nitric oxide (NO) following intra-plantar injection of carragenin [20]. Additionally, research has found that CAPE can inhibit the expression of i-NOS, by suppressing NFkB activation. Moreover, the parameter for neutrophil sequestration in ischemic tissue undergoing reperfusion, myeloperoxidase (MPO), increased during the ischemia, leading to the production of oxidants by neutrophils. Propolis has been found to decrease neutrophil infiltration and suppress MPO activity in muscle [20] (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Effect of Propolis On Muscle Damage (↑: Increase, ↑: Decrease, ↔: Non-Significant)

DISCUSSION

From the 21 articles in this study, it is possible to ascertain the role of propolis in muscle repair through three main mechanisms, primarily due to its antioxidant, and antiinflammatory properties, and its effect on the metabolic system including glucose and lipid metabolism, which influence muscle fatigue, strength, and mass. As an antioxidant, propolis showed benefits in various cases including muscle stress, exercise and the ageing process. Research indicates that administering propolis during skeletal muscle-induced stress elevates the levels of antioxidants including catalase (CAT), glutathione peroxidase (GSH-PX), Total Antioxidant Capacity (T-AOC), heme oxygenase-1(HO-1) and superoxide dismutase (SOD) [33, 34]. This increase in antioxidants enables cell survival by blocking the p53 and protects the muscle cells from apoptosis thus facilitating the repair process [29]. Furthermore, propolis intervention in exercise-induced skeletal muscle has been shown to elevate TAC and GSH levels, while reducing Total oxidant status (TOS), malondialdehyde (MDA) and Oxidative stability index (OSI) levels following the 12-minute runs (Cooper test) [16]. Administration of propolis also showed benefits in ageing people. A 12-week propolis intervention in elderly women resulted in increased SOD levels suggesting its potential benefit for the ageing process [18]. Vascularization is one of the crucial factors that facilitate tissue repair, including in muscle. Propolis can be used as a cytoprotectant for endothelium of vascular within skeletal muscle. Muscle capillary is influenced by pro-angiogenic signals like VEGF, which promotes the differentiation of endothelial cells, a crucial step in muscle repair [30]. Therefore, this mechanism of action is also described as the benefit of propolis in muscle repair. The study revealed the benefits of propolis in muscle strength and mass. Results from examining muscle strength specifically grip strength and knee extension strength in elderly women who received propolis supplementation, showed no significant differences. The lack of quantitative data on physical activity during the trial period, is responsible for these results, suggesting additional research may be necessary [18]. Research on peripheral nerve damage and spinal cord damage in animal models found that treatment with propolis resulted in improved muscle function as measured by the SFI score [32], morphologically and histologically increased muscle mass, and enhanced locomotion [24]. Following 20 weeks of treatment with propolis, there was an observed increase in soleus muscle mass, however, it was not attributed to muscle hypertrophy, instead, it is thought to be a result of stimulation of glycogen accumulation within the muscles [31]. The rise in muscle mass might also be attributed to an increase in connective tissue resulting from the migration and proliferation of fibroblast due to propolis administration. Further exploration is required to investigate another potential mechanism. The majority of studies mention that active ingredients of propolis such as Artepellin-C, CAPE, coumaric acid, trans-phenolic acid, and kaempferide are components of propolis that play an important role [15, 34]. Some studies use these components singly to prove their effects. The active components contained in propolis have different properties and concentrations because propolis itself is very dependent on the demographic location of the distribution of flora [35]. Therefore, according to the author, other components contained in propolis also have an important role that is considered as a wholeness of the material [36]. There are many variations in the time used to see the effects of propolis on muscle repair. Studies conducted on human populations themselves vary from 4 weeks to 12 weeks. However, from studies that looked at the effects of propolis on anti-inflammation conducted for 30 days, there was a decrease in pain caused by inflammatory activity [15, 18]. From the studies traced, the effect of propolis on insignificant parameters is due to the lack of facilities and infrastructure, as well as the lack of supporting data. The direct effect of propolis on these conditions is not explained in detail [15]. However, according to the author, data on muscle function that is not yet significant can be influenced by various factors, including individual habits. Therefore, further testing is expected on a wider population with good sample characteristic control.

CONCLUSIONS

It was concluded that the bee's natural product, propolis, has several advantages in muscle repair due to its multiple mechanisms of action, encompassing antioxidants, antiinflammatory properties, impact on muscle glucose metabolism, and stimulation of angiogenesis.

Authors Contribution

Conceptualization: PRA, SK Methodology: SK, PRA, DS Formal analysis: DS Writing review and editing: PRA, DS, SK

All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

All the authors declare no conflict of interest.

Source of Funding

The author received no financial support for the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

REFERENCES

- [1] Ueda M, Hayashibara K, Ashida H. Propolis Extract Promotes Translocation of Glucose Transporter 4 and Glucose Uptake Through Both PI3K-and AMPK-Dependent Pathways in Skeletal Muscle. Biofactors.2013 Jul; 39(4): 457-66. doi: 10.1002/biof.10 85.
- [2] Torri F, Lopriore P, Montano V, Siciliano G, Mancuso M, Ricci G. Pathophysiology and Management of Fatigue in Neuromuscular Diseases. International Journal of Molecular Sciences.2023 Mar; 24(5): 5005. doi: 10.33 90/ijms24055005.
- [3] Okamura T, Hamaguchi M, Bamba R, Nakajima H, Yoshimura Y, Kimura T et al. Brazilian Green Propolis Improves Gut Microbiota Dysbiosis and Protects Against Sarcopenic Obesity. Journal of Cachexia, Sarcopenia and Muscle.2022 Dec; 13(6): 3028-47.

doi:10.1002/jcsm.13076.

- [4] Volpato S, Bianchi L, Lauretani F, Lauretani F, Bandinelli S, Guralnik JM et al. Role of Muscle Mass and Muscle Quality in the Association Between Diabetes and Gait Speed. Diabetes Care.2012 Aug; 35(8): 1672-9.doi: 10.2337/dc11-2202.
- [5] Sizoo D, Stam SP, de Heide LJ, Emous M, van Zutphen T, van Dijk PR et al. The Association of Low Muscle Mass with Prevalence and Incidence of Type 2 Diabetes in Different BMI Classes. Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice.2023 Jan;195:110197.doi:10 .1016/j.diabres.2022.110197.
- [6] Wright VJ, Schwartzman JD, Itinoche R, Wittstein J. The Musculoskeletal Syndrome of Menopause. Climacteric.2024 Sep; 27(5): 466-72. doi: 10.1080/136 97137.2024.2380363.
- [7] Stožer A, Vodopivc P, Bombek LK. Pathophysiology of Exercise-Induced Muscle Damage and Its Structural, Functional, Metabolic, and Clinical Consequences. Physiological Research.2020 Aug; 69(4): 565.doi: 10.33549/physiolres.934371.
- [8] Wiedmer P, Jung T, Castro JP, Pomatto LC, Sun PY, Davies KJ et al. Sarcopenia-Molecular Mechanisms and Open Questions. Ageing Research Reviews.2021 Jan; 65: 101200. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2020.101200.
- [9] Buckinx F, Aubertin-Leheudre M. Sarcopenia in Menopausal Women: Current Perspectives. International Journal of Women's Health.2022 Jun: 805-19. doi: 10.2147/IJWH.S340537.
- [10] Ciudin A, Simó-Servat A, Palmas F, Barahona MJ. Sarcopenic Obesity: A New Challenge in the Clinical Practice. Endocrinología, Diabetes y Nutrición (English ed.).2020 Dec; 67(10): 672-81. doi: 10.1016/j .endien.2020.03.007.
- [11] Wei S, Nguyen TT, Zhang Y, Ryu D, Gariani K. Sarcopenic Obesity: Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, Cardiovascular Disease, Mortality, and Management. Frontiers in Endocrinology.2023 Jun; 14: 1185221. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1185221.
- [12] Chinen N, Otsu W, Ohuchi K, Ando S, Nakamura S, Kono H et al. Brazilian Green Propolis Promotes the Cytoprotective Expression of Heme Oxygenase-1 Against Oxidative Stress Injury in Murine Myoblast Cells. Functional Foods in Health and Disease.2020 Dec; 10(12): 493-504. doi: 10.31989/ffhd.v10i12.756.
- [13] Stotz A, Hamacher D, Zech A. Relationship Between Muscle Strength and Gait Parameters in Healthy Older Women and Men. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health.2023 Apr; 20(7): 5362. doi: 10.3390/ijerph20075362.
- [14] Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD *et al.* The PRISMA 2020

DOI: https://doi.org/10.54393/pbmj.v8i1.1181

Statement: An Updated Guideline for Reporting Systematic Reviews. British Medical Journal.2021 Mar; 372. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71.

- [15] Caperuto EC, Nicoletti MA, Silva MM, Cezar T, Goularte JO, Gusmão N et al. Effects of Artepelin-C Supplementation Present in Propolis Related to Inflammatory Processes in Physically Active Individuals. International Journal of Food and Nutrition Research. 2019; 3:1-23.
- [16] Soleimani D, Miryan M, Hadi V, Gholizadeh Navashenaq J, Moludi J, Sayedi SM et al. Effect of Propolis Supplementation On Athletic Performance, Body Composition, Inflammation, and Oxidative Stress Following Intense Exercise: A Triple-Blind Randomized Clinical Trial. Food Science and Nutrition.2021 Jul; 9(7): 3631-40. doi: 10.1002/fsn3 .2319.
- [17] Tsuchiya Y, Hirata N, Asama T, Osakabe N, Hirata K, Akagi R. Can a Short-Term Daily Oral Administration of Propolis Improve Muscle Fatigue and Recovery? International Journal of Sports Medicine.2022 Sep; 43(10): 859-64. doi: 10.1055/a-1808-6319.
- [18] Kanazashi M, Iida T, Nakanishi R, Tanaka M, Ikeda H, Takamiya N et al. Brazilian Propolis Intake Decreases Body Fat Mass and Oxidative Stress in Community-Dwelling Elderly Females: A Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trial. Nutrients.2023 Jan; 15(2): 364. doi: 10.3390/nu15020364.
- [19] Moayedi F, Taghian F, Dehkordi KJ, Hosseini SA. Cumulative Effects of Exercise Training and Consumption of Propolis On Managing Diabetic Dyslipidemia in Adult Women: A Single-Blind, Randomized, Controlled Trial with Pre-Post-Intervention Assessments. The Journal of Physiological Sciences.2023Jan;73(1):17.doi:10. 1186/s12576-023-00872-6.
- [20] Tan-No K, Nakajima T, Shoji T, Nakagawasai O, Niijima F, Ishikawa M et al. Anti-Inflammatory Effect of Propolis Through Inhibition of Nitric Oxide Production On Carrageenin-Induced Mouse Paw Edema. Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin. 2006; 29(1): 96-9. doi: 10.1248/bpb.29.96.
- [21] Ozyurt H, Ozyurt B, Koca K, Ozgocmen S. Caffeic Acid Phenethyl Ester (CAPE) Protects Rat Skeletal Muscle Against Ischemia-Reperfusion-Induced Oxidative Stress. Vascular Pharmacology.2007 Aug; 47(2-3): 108-12. doi: 10.1016/j.vph.2007.04.008.
- [22] Lee ES, Uhm KO, Lee YM, Han M, Lee M, Park JM et al. CAPE (Caffeic Acid Phenethyl Ester) Stimulates Glucose Uptake Through AMPK (AMP-Activated Protein Kinase) Activation in Skeletal Muscle Cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research

Communications.2007 Oct; 361(4): 854-8. doi: 10.10 16/j.bbrc.2007.07.068.

- [23] Andrade-Silva AR, Ramalho FS, Ramalho LN, Saavedra-Lopes M, Jordão Jr AA, Vanucchi H et al. Effect of NFκB Inhibition By CAPE On Skeletal Muscle Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury. Journal of Surgical Research.2009 May; 153(2): 254-62. doi: 10.1016/j.jss .2008.04.009.
- [24] Kasai M, Fukumitsu H, Soumiya H, Furukawa S. Ethanol Extract of Chinese Propolis Facilitates Functional Recovery of Locomotor Activity After Spinal Cord Injury. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine.2011;2011(1): 749627. doi: 10.1155/2011/749627.
- [25] Shen YC, Yen JC, Liou KT. Ameliorative Effects of Caffeic Acid Phenethyl Ester On an Eccentric Exercise-Induced Skeletal Muscle Injury by Down-Regulating NF-Kb Mediated Inflammation. Pharmacology.2013 May; 91(3-4): 219-28. doi: 10.1159/000348412.
- [26] Kwon TD, Lee MW, Kim KH. The Effect of Exercise Training and Water Extract from Propolis Intake On the Antioxidant Enzymes Activity of Skeletal Muscle and Liver in Rat. Journal of Exercise Nutrition & Biochemistry.2014 Mar; 18(1): 9. doi: 10.5717/ jenb. 2014.18.1.9.
- [27] Yüce S, Gökçe EC, Iskdemir A, Koç ER, Cemil DB, Gökçe A et al. An Experimental Comparison of the Effects of Propolis, Curcumin, and Methylprednisolone On Crush Injuries of the Sciatic Nerve. Annals of Plastic Surgery.2015 Jun;74(6):68 4-92. doi: 10.1097/SAP.00000000000026.
- [28] Washio K, Kobayashi M, Saito N, Amagasa M, Kitamura H. Propolis Ethanol Extract Stimulates Cytokine and Chemokine Production Through NF-Kb Activation in C2C12 Myoblasts. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine.2015; 2015(1): 349751. doi: 10.1155/2015/349751.
- [29] Roquetto AR, Monteiro NE, Moura CS, Toreti VC, de Pace F, Dos Santos A et al. Green Propolis Modulates Gut Microbiota, Reduces Endotoxemia and Expression of TLR4 Pathway in Mice Fed a High-Fat Diet. Food Research International. 2015 Oct; 76: 796-803. doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2015.07.026.
- [30] Tanaka M, Kanazashi M, Maeshige N, Kondo H, Ishihara A, Fujino H. Protective Effects of Brazilian Propolis Supplementation On Capillary Regression in the Soleus Muscle of Hindlimb-Unloaded Rats. The Journal of Physiological Sciences.2019 Mar; 69: 223-33. doi: 10.1007/s12576-018-0639-z.
- [31] Egawa T, Ohno Y, Yokoyama S, Yokokawa T, Tsuda S, Goto K *et al.* The Protective Effect of Brazilian

Propolis Against Glycation Stress in Mouse Skeletal Muscle. Foods.2019 Sep; 8(10): 439. doi: 10.3390/ foods8100439.

- [32] Nosratiyan M, Farjah GH, Karimipour M, Pourheidar B. The Effect of Propolis-Gum Arabic as A Novel Nerve Guidance Channel On Regeneration of Sciatic Nerve in Male Rats. Turk. Neurosurg.2021 Jan; 31: 361-7. doi: 10.5137/1019-5149.JTN.29813-20.2.
- [33] Tian S, Zhao H, Guo H, Feng W, Jiang C, Jiang Y. Propolis Ethanolic Extract Attenuates D-Gal-Induced C2C12 Cell Injury by Modulating Nrf2/HO-1 and P38/P53 Signaling Pathways. International Journal of Molecular Sciences.2023 Mar; 24(7): 6408. doi: 10.3390/ijms24076408.
- [34] Tian S, Zhao H, Liu J, Ma X, Zheng L, Guo H, Jiang Y. Metabolomics Reveals That Alcohol Extract of Propolis Alleviates D-Gal-Induced Skeletal Muscle Senescence in Mice. Food Bioscience.2022 Oct; 49: 101885. doi: 10.1016/j.fbio.2022.101885.
- [35] Kiziltas H and Erkan C. The Effects of Different Beehives On Propolis Production and Quality. Food Science and Technology. 2020 Sep; 41: 877-83. doi: 10.1590/fst.20120.
- [36] Cassina López BG, Bataglion GA, Jara JL, Pacheco Filho EF, de Mendonça Melo LS, Cardoso JC et al. Variation of the Phytoestrogen Composition of Red Propolis Throughout the Year. Journal of Apicultural Research.2020 Aug; 59(4): 406-12. doi: 10.10 80/00 218839.2020.1714192.